
1 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

MEETING: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) 

  
DATE: Tuesday 28th June, 2022 
  

TIME: 6.30 pm 
  

VENUE: Town Hall, Bootle 
  

 

 Member 

 

Councillor 

Substitute 
 

Councillor 
 Councillor Dowd (Chair) 

Councillor Howard (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Corcoran 
Councillor Hansen 

Councillor Chris Maher 
Councillor Myers 
Councillor Page 

Councillor Sathiy 
Councillor Sir Ron Watson 

Councillor Webster 
 

Councillor Killen 
Councillor O'Brien 

Councillor Burns 
Councillor Grace 

Councillor Anne Thompson 
Councillor Waterfield 
Councillor Thomas 

Councillor Dodd 
Councillor Prendergast 

Councillor Richards 
 

 

 
 COMMITTEE OFFICER: Paul Fraser 

Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 Telephone: 0151 934 2068 
 Fax:  

 E-mail: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk 
 
 

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist. 

 

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack



2 

A G E N D A 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

 Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 

pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 

declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda. 
 
Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 

he/she must withdraw from the meeting room, including from 
the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 

of business in which he/she has an interest, except where 
he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation. 

 
Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 

seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting room, including 

from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an interest or whether 

the Member can remain in the meeting or remain in the 
meeting and vote on the relevant decision. 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 10) 

  Minutes of the meeting held 8 March 2022 

 

 

4.   Riverside Dispersed Accommodation Pilot (Pages 11 - 
68) 

 Report of the Head of Economic Growth and Housing 

 

 

5.   Work Programme 2022/23, Scrutiny Review Topics and 
Key Decision Forward Plan 

(Pages 69 - 
90) 

 Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer 

 

 

6.   Cabinet Member Reports - February 2022 - June 2022 (Pages 91 - 
104) 

 Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer 

 

 

 



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL IN”. 

 

34 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) 

 
MEETING HELD AT THE BALLROOM, TOWN HALL, BOOTLE 

ON TUESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2022 

 
PRESENT: Councillor John Sayers (in the Chair) 

Councillor Blackburne (Vice-Chair)  
Councillors D'Albuquerque, Cluskey, Hansen, 

Chris Maher, Page, Robinson and Sathiy 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Councillors Atkinson, Evans, Fairclough and Hardy 

 
33. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Myers. 
 
34. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

In accordance with Paragraph 9 of the Council’s Code of Conduct, the 
following declaration of personal interest was made and the Member 
concerned remained in the room during the consideration of the item, took 

part in the consideration of the item but did not vote: 
     

Member Minute No. Nature of Interest 

Councillor 

D’Albuquerque 

Minute No. 36 – 

Knob Hall Lane, 

Southport 

Personal – has held discussions 

with residents of Knob Hall Lane, 

Southport over the issues 

contained in the report 

 
35. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS  

 
RESOLVED: That 

 
(1) the Minutes of the meetings held on 9 November and 14 December 

2021 be confirmed as a correct record; and  
 

(2) the Minutes of the informal, remote meeting held on 18 January 

2022 be noted. 
 
36. KNOB HALL LANE, SOUTHPORT  

 
The Committee considered (a) the report of the Chief Legal and 

Democratic Officer, which set out the decision of the Cabinet Member – 
Locality Services in relation to Knob Hall Lane, Southport, and the reasons 
why the decision had been called-in; and (b) the report of the Head of 

Highways and Public Protection which was considered by the Cabinet 
Member – Locality Services in relation to this matter.  

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - TUESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2022 
 

35 

The decision taken by the Cabinet Member – Locality Services on 9 
December 2021 in relation to this matter was as follows: 

 
Decision Made:  
 

That:  
 

(1) the position as set out in paragraph 7 of the report be approved; 
and 
 

(2) the Head of Highways and Public Protection be requested to write 
to Cambridge Ward Councillors and residents, affirming the 

Council's position on this matter. 
 
Reason for Decision: 

 
The issue of maintenance responsibility for Knob Hall Lane has been the 

source of dispute for many years. In November 2019, Cambridge Ward 
Councillors, on behalf of the residents of Knob Hall Lane, collectively 
raised the issue with the Head of Highways and Public Protection. 

Investigations were therefore commenced which involved a thorough 
search of the Council’s documentary records, and legal advice was 
sought. Endorsement of the suggested position will enable officers to 

communicate that position to interested parties. 
 
Alternative Options Considered: 

 
The Council could adopt a different position to that set out. This option has 

been rejected, as the position suggested is considered correct on the 
basis of analysis of the circumstances, legislation, case law, and historic 

documentary evidence. 
 
The decision was subsequently called-in by Councillors Evans, Dodd and 

Pugh. 
 

Paul Fraser, Senior Democratic Services Officer reported on the validity of 
the call-in and highlighted that the call-in requisition: 
 

 had been received within the specified call-in period; 

 had been signed by three Members of the Council who were not 

Members of the Cabinet, in accordance with the provisions in 
Chapter 6, Paragraph 38(a) of the Council’s Constitution; and 

 referred to a specific decision made by the Cabinet Member – 
Locality Services and provided reasons for call in, in accordance 
with Chapter 6, paragraph 40 of the Constitution. 

 
Councillor Evans, on behalf of Councillors Dodd and Pugh, addressed the 

Committee and outlined and amplified the reasons for the call-in as 
follows: 
 

“(1) to seek more understanding of the decision and its implications - as 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - TUESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2022 
 

36 

whilst legal advice has been given, it is believed there are other 
solutions which would be fairer to the residents, such as: 

 

 Continuing to maintain the previous policy to maintain Knob 
Hall Lane to a 'keep safe' standard in recognition of its 

unique position and the role it plays in accessing three 
adopted cul-de-sacs. 

 Considered any alternative route to adoption, including 
assisting funding, reconvening contact with the Hesketh 
estate or any alternative options. 

 
(2) to question the soundness of the decision based on facts taken or 

not taken into account - to seek alternative solutions which the 
council has not examined. Effectively, it is believed that the council 
have sought legal advice and not sufficiently considered that there 

is an alternative to that legal advice. The call-in Members and many 
residents believe that the council have a moral obligation to the 

residents of Knob Hall Lane that is not being served by this new 
policy which will see the lane deteriorate even more than it already 
has and see hundreds of residents, including those living on 

adopted roads, forced to travel on unsafe and unmaintained roads 
to access their properties” 

 
Councillor Fairclough, Cabinet Member – Locality Services explained the 
decision and the reasons why it was taken by him.  

 
Peter Moore, Head of Highways and Public Protection reported on the 

issues and the reasons for his recommendation and advice to the Cabinet 
Member – Locality Services.  
 

Councillor Evans, lead call-in Member, Councillor Fairclough, Cabinet 
Member – Locality Services and Peter Moore, Head of Highways and 

Public Protection responded to questions/comments posed by Members of 
the Committee in relation to the call-in concerning: 
 

 Since the construction of Knob Hall Lane the number of new 
houses, situated off Knob Hall Lane that had been granted planning 

permission by the Council 

 The perception of Knob Hall Lane residents of the unfairness of 

additional traffic using their unadopted lane to access new, adopted 
roads and houses that had been granted planning permission by 
the Council 

 That Knob Hall Lane was a public highway and had been used as a 
diversionary route by the Council to facilitate road works in nearby 

locations 

 The most recent costs to residents, provided in 2005, for bringing 

Knob Hall Lane up to adoption standard that ranged from £2000 to 
£45,000 per resident. It was anticipated that the current total cost to 
bring the lane up to adoption standard would be in the region of 

£500,000 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - TUESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2022 
 

37 

 Why conditions were not imposed on planning permissions granting 
development of properties off Knob Hall Lane that required funding 

to bring the lane up to adoption standards; and whether this would 
be a material consideration for the Planning Committee  

 The numbers of other unadopted roads in Sefton similar to Knob 

Hall Lane that had adopted highways running off them 

 The difference between adopted roads and public highways 

 The cessation of maintenance on all unadopted roads in the 
borough 

 Concern expressed that Knob Hall Lane residents were confused 
and frustrated as to what to do next as they were unsure about how 

to remedy the deteriorating road outside of their properties. 
Residents were uncertain whether they could employ their own 
contractors, or do works themselves, to improve the lane outside of 

their homes   

 Knob Hall Lane was deteriorating and could lead to catastrophic 

events 

 The potential for the Council to consider a loan scheme for 
residents to undertake works to bring the lane up to adoptable 

standard had not been considered  

 The administrative burden on the Council to impose charges 

against properties for works undertaken to bring the lane to 
adoption standards; and then having to recoup the money over a 

long period of time                 
 
Councillor Fairclough, Cabinet Member – Locality Services then summed 

up his position. 
 

Councillor Evans, on behalf of Councillors Dodd and Pugh summed up the 
position of the call-in Members.     
 

A Motion was moved by Councillor Page and seconded by Councillor 
Cluskey that the Committee is not concerned about the decision made by 

the Cabinet Member – Locality Services. 
 
The Democratic Services Officer officiated the vote and the Chair declared 

that the Motion was carried by 7 votes to 1 with 1 abstention and it was  
 
RESOLVED: That 

 
(1) the validity of the call-in be accepted;  

 
(2) the Committee is not concerned and accepts the decision made by 

the Cabinet Member – Locality Services in relation to Knob Hall 

Lane, Southport; and  
 

(3) the Head of Highways and Public Protection be requested to 
provide information to Members on whether residents residing on an 
unadopted road could employ their own contractors, collectively or 

individually, or do works themselves, to improve the highway 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - TUESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2022 
 

38 

outside of their homes.   
 
37. STOP THE 5G ROLLOUT IN SEFTON – REVIEW OF STEPS 
TAKEN BY COUNCIL  

 

Further to Minute No. 84 of the meeting of the Council held on 20 January 
2022 the Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and 

Democratic Officer that advised of a request, made in accordance with 
Rule 224 of Chapter 11 of the Council’s Constitution, that the Committee 
reviews the steps that the Council had taken in response to the petition 

considered at the Council meeting in relation to “Stop the 5G Rollout in 
Sefton”. 

 
The report detailed the terms of the petition and the comments made to 
Council by the lead petitioner; the response made by Councillor Veidman, 

Cabinet Member - Planning and Building Control; and the decision taken 
by Council in respect of the matter.  

 
The report also advised that following the Council meeting and the 
publication of the minutes the lead petitioner contacted the Chief Legal 

and Democratic Officer requesting a review of the steps that the Council 
had taken in response to her petition; that the request was made in 
accordance with Rule 224 of Chapter 11 of the Council’s Constitution; and 

set out a detailed explanation from the lead petitioner as to why she 
considered that the Council’s response to the petition was not considered 

to be adequate. 
 
The report concluded that the purpose of the review was not to re-visit the 

issues discussed and debated by Council but to determine whether the 
Council dealt with the petition properly in accordance with the Constitution; 

that to help the Committee in this matter the procedure adopted by the 
Council was set out in the report; and therefore the Committee was 
requested to review the steps that the Council had taken in response to 

the petition and to determine whether the Council had dealt with the 
petition properly in accordance with the Constitution.  

 
With the permission of the Committee a representative of the petitioners 
was allowed to address the meeting. Prior to the petitioner representative 

addressing the meeting the Chair, Councillor John Sayers, advised that 
representations should focus not on the issues discussed and debated by 

Council but on whether the Council dealt with the petition properly in 
accordance with its Constitution. The petitioner representative made the 
following points: 

 

 Petitioners feel they were unfairly dealt with 

 5 minutes was not long enough to get their points across at Council 

 The Council did not respond adequately to the petitioner’s points; 

misrepresentations were made; and the petitioners had no 
opportunity to respond 

 The reduced number of Members in attendance at the Council was 

referred to 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - TUESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2022 
 

39 

  
Members of the Committee asked questions/commented on the following 

issues: 
 

 The purpose of the review was to determine whether the Council 

adhered to its procedures in dealing with the petition 

 The Council meeting held on 20 January 2022 was quorate and 

politically balanced and was a legally constituted meeting 
 
 RESOLVED:  

 
That the Committee is satisfied that the Council, at its meeting held on 20 

January 2022, took the appropriate steps, in accordance with Rule 220 of 
Chapter 11 of the Council’s Constitution, in response to the petition with 
the terms “Stop the 5G Rollout in Sefton”  

  
38. POTENTIAL TO ESTABLISH A WORKING GROUP TO REVIEW 

THE TOPIC OF DOG FOULING IN PUBLIC PLACES AND METHODS 
TO COMBAT IT  

 

Further to Minute No 6 (2) of the informal meeting of the Committee held 
on 18 January 2022 the Committee considered the report of the Head of 

Highways and Public Protection on the potential to establish a Working 
Group to review the topic of dog fouling in public places and methods to 
combat such an anti-social practice. 

 
The report stated that failure to pick up dog fouling and the inappropriate 

disposal of dog ‘fouling bags’ (littering) by irresponsible dog walkers were  
legitimate concerns for Members, residents and visitors to the Borough as 
such unpleasant and anti-social acts could significantly impact upon the 

use, appearance, and enjoyment of public spaces; that the recent 
consultation regarding implementation of a Public Spaces Protection Order 

(PSPO) for dog Control, including dog fouling, saw a 95.95% positive 
response to the proposal to allow Fixed Penalty Notices to be issued 
across the Borough for dog walkers who failed to pick up dog fouling; and 

detailed the several ways how the Council currently tackled this issue.  
 

The report also detailed the tools available to ensure compliance and 
change to this anti-social behaviour and that they were often categorised 
as Education, Engineering and Enforcement (the three E’s); that there was 

a potential to review the topic of dog fouling centred on these 3 E’s; that a 
working group could consider: 

 

 Current Council policies and practices in dealing with dog fouling 
and disposal of dog ‘fouling bags’ 

 Areas of good practise within the Council 

 Good practise within other local authorities or similar organisations 

 Areas for improvement within the Council’s policies and practice 
 

However, there was a danger that any new working group to review the 
impact of dog fouling in public places and the methods to combat this may 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - TUESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2022 
 

40 

see significant duplication in the matters already considered by the 
previous, recently completed Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement 

Activity Working Group.  
 
The report concluded by suggesting two options for consideration, namely: 

 
(1) that the Committee recognises the negative impact of dog fouling 

in public places but agrees not to establish a Working Group to 
consider this issue at this time, in recognition of the potential 
duplication of work and themes only recently covered by the 

Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity Working 
Group; or  

 
(2) that the Committee notes the work and recommendations already 

made by the Committee’s Effectiveness of the Council’s 

Enforcement Activity Working Group, and agrees to establish a 
Working Group to review the topic of dog fouling in public places 

and methods to combat such anti-social practice that seeks to 
explore relevant issues not already fully explored by the earlier 
Working Group. 

 
Members of the Committee asked questions/commented on the following 
issues: 

 

 The establishment of a Working Group to review the topic of dog 

fouling may duplicate work recently completed by this Committee’s 
recently concluded Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement 

Activity Working Group 

 bearing in mind this was the last meeting of the Committee in the 
Municipal Year; that a new Committee would be established 

following the Annual Meeting of the Council and that new Members 
would be appointed; it may be beneficial to defer the matter and 

give further consideration to it as part of the Work Programme 
report at the Committee’s first meeting in the 2022/23 Municipal 
Year     

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That further consideration be given to the establishment of a Working 
Group to review the topic of dog fouling in public places and methods to 

combat such an anti-social practice at the first meeting of the Committee in 
the 2022/23 Municipal Year.     

  
39. WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22, SCRUTINY REVIEW TOPICS 
AND KEY DECISION FORWARD PLAN  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 

Officer on the Work Programme for 2021/22; the identification of potential 
topics for scrutiny reviews to be undertaken by a Working Group(s) 
appointed by the Committee; the identification of any items for pre-scrutiny 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - TUESDAY 8TH MARCH, 2022 
 

41 

from the Key Decision Forward Plan; and that updated on the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
RESOLVED: That 
 

(1)  
 

the Work Programme for 2021/22, as set out in Appendix 1 to the 
report, be approved; and  

 
(2) the update on the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee be noted. 

 
40. CABINET MEMBER REPORTS - DECEMBER 2021/FEBRUARY 

2022  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 

Officer that included the most recent reports from the Cabinet Members for 
Communities and Housing; Health and Wellbeing; Locality Services; 

Planning and Building Control; and Regeneration and Skills.  
 
RESOLVED: That 

 
(1) the update reports from the Cabinet Members for Communities 

and Housing; Health and Wellbeing; Locality Services; Planning 
and Building Control; and Regeneration and Skills be noted; and 
 

(2) Councillors Atkinson and Hardy be thanked for their attendance at 
the meeting.  

 
 
 

 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and 

Skills) 
 

Date of Meeting: Tuesday 28 June 
2022 

Subject: Riverside Dispersed Accommodation Pilot 
 

Report of: Head of Economic 
Growth and 

Housing 
 

Wards Affected: (All Wards); 

Portfolio: Communities & Housing 
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No 
 

Exempt / 
Confidential 

Report: 

No 

 
Summary: 

To provide an overview of the Riverside Dispersed Accommodation pilot 
 
Recommendation(s): 

 
(1) to inform Overview & Scrutiny (Regen & Skills) of the progress made regarding this 

pilot project and note the contents of this report. 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 

Cabinet Member for Communities & Housing has recommended that the successful 
outcomes of this pilot project be presented to this Committee for scrutiny 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 

N/A 

 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 

 
(A) Revenue Costs 

The current pilot is being funded primarily via Flexible Homeless Support Grant and also 

from the Homelessness Prevention Grant. 
 

There are no additional revenue costs associated with the recommendations in this 
report. 
 
(B) Capital Costs 

 

There are no capital costs associated with the recommendations in this report. 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 

 
Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):  

If this model were to be mainstreamed this would require a budget to be identified in 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 

order to fund the delivery of it. 

Legal Implications: 

None 

Equality Implications: 

There are no equality implications. 
 

Climate Emergency Implications: 

 

The recommendations within this report will  

Have a positive impact  N 

Have a neutral impact Y 

Have a negative impact N 

The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 

report authors 

Y 

 

The project, whilst saving money for the Council, is seen to have a negative impact on 

the climate due to its focus being on rehousing. 

 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:  

 
Protect the most vulnerable: 

Those who are homeless, and those at risk of becoming homeless are among the most 

vulnerable in society. 
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 

Through the intervention by the Council and its partners at the most critical moment 
when residents are homeless or at the risk of becoming homeless in order to prevent 

further reliance on public sector support in the future. 
Commission, broker and provide core services: 

The delivery of a service which is based on the needs of some of the most vulnerable in 

society. 
Place – leadership and influencer: 

Through the creation of settled sustainable communities 
Drivers of change and reform: 

Through the understanding of the needs of the most vulnerable in society and change 
and reform of services in order to meet those needs. 
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 

Help to relieve rough sleeping and homelessness in Sefton has a wide-ranging positive 

impact for those most vulnerable in society by providing residents with the most basic 
form of need; housing. 
Greater income for social investment:  

This pilot has partly been funded from social investment funding 
Cleaner Greener 

N/A 
 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 

 
(A) Internal Consultations 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



 

 

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6797/22.....) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4997/22....) have been consulted and 

any comments have been incorporated into the report. 
 

Cabinet Member Communities & Housing’s has been briefed continually regarding this 
pilot and approved an extension to the pilot on 9th June 2021 
 
(B) External Consultations  

Riverside have consulted with Officers of the Council and a consultation with the families 

involved in this pilot was undertaken as part of the pilot’s Evaluation Report 
 
Contact Officer: Graham Parry 

Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 3446 

Email Address: graham.parry@sefton.gov.uk 
 

Appendices: 

Appendix A – Sefton Families Final Evaluation Report 
 

 
Background Papers: 

The following background papers, which are not available elsewhere on the Internet can 
be accessed on the Council website:  
Decision - Dispersed Temporary Accommodation pilot project with Riverside Housing 

Association proposal 
 

 
 
1. Introduction/Background 

 
1.1 One of the actions within Sefton’s Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy  

 2018-23, is to undertake a strategic review of temporary accommodation in Sefton 
 to ensure that the provision is suitable. At present Sefton’s temporary 
 accommodation for families is based in one location, Lonsdale Hostel. However, 

 the provision of hostel type accommodation for this purpose is now considered out 
 of date, with many councils attempting to provide dispersed supported temporary 

 accommodation models as well as or instead of hostel provision.  
 
1.2 On 26th July 2019, Cabinet Member approved the delivery of a service to provide 

 dispersed temporary accommodation and support services for vulnerable 
 households,  particularly for those who struggle to access tenancies. The service 

 is a 2-year pilot and funded through the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant 
 up to a maximum cost of £150,000. The scheme went live on 2nd December 
 2019. 

 
1.3 In June 2021, Cabinet Member approved the extension of the pilot so that 

 Riverside could extend the pilot by a further six months and, to also extend the 
 provision of properties that Riverside provide by an additional 10 properties, 
 bringing the total number of properties to 30. 

 
2. Evaluation Report 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4

http://smbc-modgov-03/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=10859
http://smbc-modgov-03/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=10859


 

 

2.1 An evaluation of the pilot was carried out by an independent company, Impact 
 Limited, to assess the impact of the pilot. The final Evaluation Report is contained 

 within Appendix A. 
 

2.2 The Evaluation concluded that without this service, customers’ progression to 
 living in independent accommodation would have been much slower.  This could 
 have consequences relating to health, wellbeing, family cohesion, etc.  The 

 Council believe that customers would, eventually, have secured private rented 
 accommodation if the service had not been available.  However, it concluded 

 that customers would have experienced an extended stay in temporary 
 accommodation and not received the intensive support that has been so 
 transformational. 

 
2.3 The Evaluation also concluded that the return on investment for every £1 which 

 Sefton Council spent was £3.36. This represents potential public spending costs 
 savings associated with homeless families of £24,394 per family. 
 
3. Future Service 
 

3.1 The Council are currently looking at the possibility of commissioning a service to 
 replace and replicate this successful pilot. The number of families approaching 
 the Sefton’s Housing Options Team continues to increase following the Covid 

 pandemic and the end of the Coronavirus Act evictions legislation. The 
 Housing Options Team continue to see their Temporary Accommodation costs 

 increase yearly, so a project which represents a positive return on investment, as 
 this does, and also potentially help reduce budgetary spend would be welcomed. 
 
4. Northern Housing Awards 2022 
 

4.1 The pilot has recently been shortlisted for the 2022 Northern Housing Awards 
 within the category for Best Initiative for Tackling Homelessness. The Awards 
 Ceremony was held on 17th May 2022. Whilst the project did not win, it did 

 tremendously well to be shortlisted for the Awards Ceremony. 
 
5. Housing Strategy and Commissioning Outcomes 
 

5.1 This project is part of the wider homelessness strategy for the Council, which is 

 detailed in Sefton’s Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018-23. 
 

5.2 Since 2018, Sefton has been working to improve services across Sefton for rough 
 sleepers and homeless residents. Successful bids to MHCLG, now DLUHC, have 
 seen subsequent years of Rough Sleeper Initiative (RSI) funding secured in order 

 to bolster commissioned services in order to reduce rough sleeping numbers 
 across the borough. In 2018, Sefton had 12 rough sleepers recorded on its 

 official Annual Rough Sleeper Count. In 2021, Sefton recorded zero rough 
 sleepers for the first time in over a decade. 
 

5.3 One of the RSI funded initiatives was a 1-year pilot for a psychologist based 
 within Sefton’s homeless services. This service has been extremely well received 

 by the homeless providers in Sefton and the outcomes for people within services 
 has improved; joint working with wider health services has improved; trauma 
 informed training and reflective practice introduced to homeless services staff by 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 the psychologist has been extremely well received. As part of Sefton’s bid for RSI 
 2022-25 funding, a 3-year Psychologist service for Sefton has been requested. 

 
5.4 In September 2021, Cabinet granted authorisation to complete a procurement 

 process to replace its Homeless and Housing Related Support contracts with an 
 Integrated Homeless Service from 1st July 2022. As part of this procurement 
 process, the Sefton Supported Housing Group consortium won the contract to 

 deliver services for at least the next five years. These services will be delivered in 
 a Strengths Based Practice approach for the first time. A strengths-based practice 

 is a collaborative process between the person supported by services and those 
 supporting them, allowing them to work together to determine an outcome that 
 draws on the person’s strengths and assets 

 
6. Summary 

 
6.1 Homeless services have been improved and recommissioned over the last four 
 years, which has seen Sefton’s rough sleeper numbers reduced to zero and a 

 shift in approach which will focus on residents’ strengths rather than their deficits. 
 

6.2 The learning gained from commissioning the pilot with a model of dispersed 
 supported accommodation has been a valuable lesson as Sefton looks to find 
 better ways of assisting the most vulnerable families approaching its Housing 

 Options Team for assistance. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Appendix A 
 

 

      

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John Harrison 

john@impact-limited.co.uk   

Sefton Families Service Evaluation 

Final Report 

 
      

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Contents 

1. Executive Summary ............................................................................................................ 9 

Overview ................................................................................................................................. 9 

Background.............................................................................................................................. 9 

Customers ............................................................................................................................... 9 

Outcomes and Aims.................................................................................................................10 

Support for Families ................................................................................................................10 

Properties ...............................................................................................................................11 

Challenges ..............................................................................................................................11 

Payment by Results .................................................................................................................11 

Innovation ..............................................................................................................................12 

Deadweight ............................................................................................................................12 

Cost Effectiveness / Value for Money .......................................................................................12 

The Future ..............................................................................................................................13 

Recommendations ..................................................................................................................13 

2. Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 14 

The Service .............................................................................................................................14 

The Report ..............................................................................................................................14 

Evaluation...............................................................................................................................14 

3. Performance Data............................................................................................................. 16 

Outcomes ...............................................................................................................................16 

4. Customer Feedback .......................................................................................................... 18 

Customer Exit Surveys .............................................................................................................18 

Customer Interviews ...............................................................................................................19 

Customer Case Studies ............................................................................................................27 

5. Team Interviews ............................................................................................................... 30 

Interviews ...............................................................................................................................30 

Progress..................................................................................................................................30 

Outcomes ...............................................................................................................................30 

Customers ..............................................................................................................................31 

Process ...................................................................................................................................31 

Support for Families ................................................................................................................32 

The Team................................................................................................................................34 

Properties ...............................................................................................................................35 

Impact on Customers...............................................................................................................36 

Covid-19 and Lockdown ...........................................................................................................36 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Partners / Stakeholders ...........................................................................................................36 

General Needs ........................................................................................................................37 

Payment by Results .................................................................................................................37 

Challenges ..............................................................................................................................38 

Innovation ..............................................................................................................................38 

Deadweight ............................................................................................................................38 

Value for Money .....................................................................................................................39 

The Future ..............................................................................................................................39 

6. Stakeholder Interviews ..................................................................................................... 40 

Interviews ...............................................................................................................................40 

Project Rationale .....................................................................................................................40 

Customers ..............................................................................................................................41 

Referral ..................................................................................................................................41 

Outcomes / Impact..................................................................................................................41 

Properties ...............................................................................................................................42 

Working with Riverside ............................................................................................................42 

Covid-19 .................................................................................................................................43 

Challenges ..............................................................................................................................43 

Innovation ..............................................................................................................................43 

Deadweight ............................................................................................................................43 

The Future ..............................................................................................................................44 

7. Fiscal Impact ..................................................................................................................... 45 

Introduction............................................................................................................................45 

Project Cost ............................................................................................................................45 

Potential Savings .....................................................................................................................45 

Wider Fiscal Impact / Cost Effectiveness ...................................................................................47 

8. Appendix ........................................................................................................................... 50 

Customer Satisfaction..............................................................................................................50 

Staff Interviews Topic Guide.....................................................................................................54 

Stakeholder Questions- Sefton .................................................................................................56 

 

  

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Executive Summary 

Overview 

The service is being delivered efficiently, effectively and with economy.  Specifically: 

 Efficiency – the service design and delivery has been successful with innovative 

elements 

 Effectively – contractual outcomes are being achieved and aims are being delivered 

 Economy – the project is cost effective and offers value for money 

Feedback is overwhelmingly positive.  Customers, stakeholders and the commissioners 

are very happy with the way the project has been delivered and what has been delivered.  
In particular, we are pleased to report that the service has had a profound effect on 

customers.  The service targeted chaotic families with a history of failed tenancies who 
require intensive support.  Now, these families have been supported, are much more 
stable and are successfully maintaining their tenancies. 
Background 

The Sefton Families Service is the first service facilitated by the Riverside Impact Fund 
(RIF).  The RIF aims to provide opportunities to test outcomes-based commissioning 
models.  The service is being delivered using a payments-by-results approach. 

Sefton Council have an action within their Homeless Strategy to source additional 
dispersed accommodation for homeless families.  To deliver this action, Sefton were 

willing to use the RIF to test a new approach.  The service adopted an approach that is 
similar to Housing First.  This is a housing and support approach which gives people 
(usually single homeless) a stable home from which to rebuild their lives.  It provides 

intensive, person-centred, holistic support that is open-ended and places no conditions 
on individuals. 

Sefton Families Service uses dispersed 2/3 bed properties as temporary accommodation 
with intensive support from a Specialist Support Worker, with the aim of transferring to a 
general needs tenancy.  Initially, the service supported 20 families but has recently been 

extended to cover 30 families.  Outcomes focus on securing accommodation then 
sustaining those tenancies by supporting families. 
Customers 

The council felt that the service offered the opportunity to meet the needs of chaotic 

families.  The option of rehousing and offering intensive support appealed because it had 
the potential to break a cycle of customers re-presenting to the council’s homeless 
services. 

Reasons for the families engaged by the service becoming homeless included fleeing 
domestic violence, relationship breakdown, eviction, overcrowding (including sharing with 

wider family) and leaving a home that was unfit for habitation.  Customers’ financial 
hardship is often the bedrock of the fractured housing history of many of stimulus for 
them becoming homeless, particularly those affected by the benefit cap (which limits the 

overall amount that unemployed people can claim i by reducing their Housing Benefit).  
In many instances, financial distress is accompanied by other complex issues such as 

substance misuse, harassment, antisocial behaviour, child protection issues and 
domestic violence.   
Customer feedback shows that: 

 Families are very happy with the new homes including the standard of decoration 

and the neighbourhood 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 Families are receiving appropriate support with their issues / needs.  In particular, 

they are very appreciative of the work of the Specialist Support Worker 

 Referrals to external support agencies are delivering tangible benefits 

 Customers highlight the transformational nature of the project with a sustained 

tenancy and intensive support contributing to their ability to address a wide range of 

needs and issues. 

Very few customers engaged by the service were in temporary accommodation at the 

time of referral, with the service being used to pre-empt the need for this type of 
accommodation. 
Outcomes and Aims 

The aims and contractual outcome of the service are being met and the service is hitting 

its contractual targets ahead of time.  At the end of May 2021, twenty-three families had 
accessed temporary accommodation.  Two of these families then left their properties to 

return to family or move out of the area.  Five families have transitioned to general 
needs.  A measure of success is the contract extension to June 2022 with the addition of 
10 more properties.  The service also has a number of stated aims for improving the lives 

of its customers, achievement relating to these aims include: 

 Sustaining tenancies – there are twenty families sustaining tenancies with five 

families transitioned to general needs 

 Maximising independence – families have greater financial security, housing 

stability, children are accessing education regularly and families have the potential 

to move towards economic independence through work and training 

 Reduce social isolation – if they want it, families are in accommodated close to 

familial and community networks 

 Improve health and wellbeing –health and wellbeing has improved.  Families are 

accessing health and mental health services 

Sustaining tenancies is the most important element of the service because it is unlikely to 
be happening if other needs are not being addressed.  It is also something the customers 

have struggled to achieve in the past.  There have been no repeat presentations to 
Housing Options from any family referred to Riverside. 
The service has exceeded the contractual outcomes and added further value e.g. grant 

applications, dealing with debt and arrears. 
Support for Families 

Key areas of support from the Specialist Support Workers include applying for welfare 
benefits, organising utilities / bill payments, developing life skills including budgeting, 

referrals to support services.  Key areas of support include: 

 Tackling arrears.  This has been very successful, with an efficient process ensuring 

families are not hindered by past debt / arrears issues 

 Harnessing support from other teams within Riverside.  This includes Income 

Maximisation (IMAX), Affordable Warmth and the employment and training team 

 Referral to other external agencies including food banks, Sefton Welfare Rights, 

Households into Work and Family Wellbeing Centres. 

 Liaising with case workers or social workers and other agencies such as Ambition 

Sefton (substance misuse), Venus Family Centre (women, young women, families 

and children), SWACA (domestic violence) and the Early Help team (children and 

families at risk). 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 Securing grants from a variety of charities including the Vicar’s Relief Fund, 

Churches Homeless Trust (both arrears), the Buttle Trust (domestic violence) and 

Family Action (education). 

Properties 

Properties are usually void for some time whilst repairs are carried out.  The property is 

painted, carpeted and blinds are installed.  White goods are provided alongside the 
furniture package.  The team and the commissioners (and customers) are very happy 

with the quality of the properties provided.  Generally, the team feel that the supply of 
property has matched the needs of customers. 
Challenges 

There have been challenges but these have been addressed with no impact on 

contractual outcomes.  Indeed, challenges have sometimes led to innovation or more 
efficient methods of project delivery.  The council are happy with the way Riverside have 
responded when an issue has been identified.  Key challenges included: 

 Covid-19.  Conducting assessments during lockdown was a challenge for the 

Housing Options team.  The Specialist Support Worker took over the task of 

assessing customers, managing the referral process, welfare checks and arrears / 

debt issues.  This method is more effective, leading to a better relationship with the 

family.  Day to day support continued to be delivered in person in some 

circumstances but telephone contact also became more important than it might 

have been.  Covid-19 did cause some delays to properties becoming available.  

This was caused by the company Riverside use to furnish properties ceasing 

deliveries for some time at the start of the first lockdown.  A further challenge 

relating to Covid-19 was that many support services were not fully operational 

 Arrears. There was an initial misunderstanding (between the council and the 

service team) about how arrears should be dealt with.  This was a challenge for the 

service in its early days but a solution was quickly identified.  It was agreed that the 

teams would work together to tackle arrears while a family were on the waiting list 

so problems did not escalate before they moved into a property.  This opened up 

access to Sefton Council’s Hardship Fund and the team found other avenues such 

as the Vicar’s Relief Fund to assist with arrears. 

 Properties.  Geographical location is an issue.  There are fewer properties available 

in areas such as Southport and Maghull.  The council mentioned that the aim of 

providing accommodation near to the customer’s last known address has been 

challenging.  They understand that supply has been driven by the location of 

Riverside stock and, more importantly, the availability of that stock.  If the service 

became permanent, there is the potential to look at working with other housing 

providers or private landlords in areas where the supply of properties is scarce.  

There is also the possibility of enhancing the supply of housing by linking it to 

Sefton’s Empty Homes Plan 

Payment by Results 

The Support Workers feel that payment by results does not impact the way the service is 
delivered. However, it is a new way of working for the Service Manager and has required 

adaptation and adjustment from the delivery model she is used to.  The key difference 
with other commissioned services are procedures relating to recording activities and 

outcomes. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Innovation  

There were a number of aspects of the service that were innovative or of particular note.  
This includes: 

 Delivering Riverside’s first payments by results service.  So far, the service has 

shown that Payments by Results (PBR) services can work 

 Related to RIF is the fact that the service is innovative and, as such, may not 

normally have been commissioned by Sefton.  It has provided an opportunity to test 

a different approach to dealing with homeless families 

 Riverside delivering their first Care and Support service in Sefton.  This has been a 

key step and has been rewarded by the service being extended and Riverside 

being awarded a contract to deliver an accommodation pathway service for rough 

sleepers 

 Given that Riverside Care and Support had no track record in Sefton, developing 

relationships and connections with other agencies (besides the council) from 

scratch in a pandemic, was a major achievement 

 The council are happy with the way that the Sefton Families Service team have 

delivered the service.  They feel that there is mutual cooperation and a willingness 

to raise concerns and offer help or support when required.  The council feel that 

their relationship with Riverside has strengthened as a result of the way that the 

Sefton Families Service has been delivered. 

 Delivering their first dispersed families service of this type.  The service adopted 

something akin to a Housing First approach for families and has proven to be 

effective 

 The team have demonstrated flexibility and creativity in dealing with challenges.  

They have delivered a service with, perhaps, a more holistic approach that 

exploited many areas of Riverside’s infrastructure.  The service drew on a number 

of teams across Care and Support and general needs to ensure that outcomes 

were achieved.  In particular, the use of IMAX, Affordable Warmth, Money Advice 

and the Housing Services team has contributed significantly to the success of the 

service 

 Reputationally, the service has been a major success.  The team and, possibly, 

Riverside as a whole are seen as an organisation that will rise to a challenge, 

innovate and persevere to make a service succeed 

Deadweight 

Without this service, customers’ progression to living in independent accommodation 
would have been much slower.  This would have consequences relating to health, 
wellbeing, family cohesion, etc.  The council feel that customers would, eventually, have 

secured private rented accommodation if the service had not been available.  However, 
they think customers would have experienced an extended stay in temporary 

accommodation and not received the intensive support that has been so 
transformational. 
Cost Effectiveness / Value for Money 

The commissioners feel that the project is cost effective and offers value for money.   If 
all outcomes for the service are achieved the payment to Riverside would be £7,260 per 

family.  In contrast: 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 The estimated cost of one complex eviction and subsequent homeless application 

is £8,085 per family 

 The saving in Housing Benefit / Universal Credit between a private rented property 

(the tenure customers would probably have been rehoused to) and a social housing 

property (their current tenure) is £5,544 (2 bed) and £6,984 (3 bed). 

Our modelling of potential public spending costs associated with homeless families 

suggests a saving of £24,394 per family.  A return of £3.36 for every £1 spent. 
The Future 

The pilot service was due to be completed by December 2021 but has been extended 
until June 2022.  The willingness of Sefton Council to extend the service is evidence that 

it has been successful and is needed.  Sefton Council expect to include provision for 
rehousing homeless families in their homeless strategy in the future. 

It is clear that the model adopted in Sefton could be transferred to other areas where 
Riverside has a significant housing stock and families’ services are needed. 
Recommendations 

Given that the project is mature and successful there appears to be little need for 

recommendations.  To that end, we recommend that the project should keep on doing i t 
what is doing.  

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Introduction 

The Service 

The Sefton Families Service is the first service delivered using the Riverside Impact 

Fund (RIF).  The RIF aims to provide opportunities to test outcomes-based 
commissioning models.  RIF ring-fenced £1 million of Riverside’s money to work with 

commissioners to fund services on an outcomes-based commissioning model, also 
known as ‘payments-by-results’. This means that the commissioner pays only when 
agreed outcomes are achieved. 

Sefton Families Service uses dispersed 2/3 bed properties as temporary accommodation 
with intensive support from a Specialist Support Worker, with the aim of transferring to a 

general needs tenancy either in the same property or another Riverside property or with 
another landlord.  This will help the family obtain the support they need and move away 
from homelessness. 

Initially, there were 20 units of accommodation supporting 20 families.  Recently, the life 
of the service has been extended by six months (until June 2022) and 10 more 

properties have been added.  The customers of Sefton Families Service were selected 
by Sefton Council’s Housing Options team, who complete the referral.  At the outset, 
Housing Options team were going to complete assessments as well but this is now done 

by the Specialist Support Workers within the Sefton Families Service. 
Once a family moves on to general needs accommodation, ongoing relevant support is 

accessed, for example via Riverside’s Intensive Intervention Service (under 30’s), Money 
Advice, Affordable Warmth and/or external agencies to ensure the best possible 
outcome for the family. 

The payment schedule is based on measurable outcomes.  These outcomes focus on 
securing accommodation then sustaining those tenancies by supporting families.  More 
detail about those outcomes and the progress made towards achieving them can be 

found in Section 3 below.  The service also has a number of stated aims for improving 
the lives of its customers, they are: 

 Sustain tenancies 

 Maximise independence 

 Reduce social isolation 

 Improve health and wellbeing 

The Report 

This report focuses on: 

 The progress to date of the Sefton Families Service, establishing whether the 

service has achieved its aims and objectives 

 Identifying any issues and areas of underperformance 

 Identifying and detailing the achievements of the service and any learning points 

 Briefly considering the success / challenges of the piloting of a Payment by Results 

approach 

 Considering the fiscal impact of the service 

Evaluation 

The key elements of the evaluation were: 

 Analysis of all data / indicators and outcomes 

 Input and analysis of customer satisfaction surveys and case studies 

 Interviews with the service team 
Page 24

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 Interviews with stakeholders 

 Interviews with customers 

 Analysis of the fiscal impact of the service 

  

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Performance Data 

Outcomes 

The payment schedule is based on measurable outcomes.  These outcomes focus on 

securing accommodation then sustaining those tenancies by supporting families.  

Ultimately, the support will lead to permanent accommodation and prevent families 

presenting as homeless in the future.  Key outcomes / milestones are: 

• Access to Temporary accommodation (evidence from licence agreement) 

• Sustainment of Temporary accommodation 3 months (evidence from licence 

agreement) 

• Sustainment of Temporary accommodation 6 months (evidence from licence 

agreement) 

• Sustainment of Temporary accommodation 9 months (evidence from licence 

agreement) 

• Sustainment of Temporary accommodation 12 months (evidence from current 

licence agreement) 

• Access to general needs tenancy (evidence from current tenancy) 

• General needs tenancy sustainment 6 months (evidence from tenancy 

agreement/Open Housing entry) 

• General needs tenancy sustainment 12 months (evidence from tenancy 

agreement/Open Housing entry) 

The table below shows data up to the end of May 2021.  Twenty-three families had 

accessed temporary accommodation.  Two of these families then left their properties to 
return to family or move out of the area.  Five families have transitioned to general 
needs. 

Throughout the delivery of the service the team met their contractual targets, which was 

10 properties in the first year and ten in the second year. 

  

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 Year 1     

Status 

Q1  

Dec 19 
– Feb 

20 

Q2  
Mar 20 
– May 

20 

Q3  
Jun 20 
– Aug 

20 

Q4 
Sep 
20-

Nov 
20 

Q1 
Dec 
20-

Feb 
21 

Q2 
Mar 
21 – 

May 
21 

Q3 
Jun 
21-

Aug 
21 

Total 

Temporary Accommodation 

Accessed accommodation 4 1 3 4 5 6  23 

Sustained for 3 months 2 2 1 1 4 6  16 

Sustained for 6 months 0 0 4 1 1 4 
 

10 

Sustained for 9 months 0 0 0 3 1 1 
 

5 

Sustained for 12 months 0 0 0 0 3 0 
 

3 

General Needs 

Accessed accommodation 0 0 1 1 1 3 
 

6 

Sustained for 6 months 0 0 0 0 1 0 
 

1 

Sustained for 12 months 0 0 0 0 0 0 
 

0 

  

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Customer Feedback 

Customer Exit Surveys 

The table below shows the responses to fourteen feedback forms that have been 

collected by the Specialist Support Worker.  They show that there is unanimous 
agreement that: 

 The Specialist Support Worker treats them with respect 

 Riverside Care and Support enable them to access other services 

 They have been able to have a say in the support they receive 

 They are happy in their accommodation 

Seven of the ten customers were not ready to move on yet.  One customer feels that 

they need more support than they already receive (but this is not elaborated upon).  Four 
customers were asked if they had encountered any barriers when accessing or using 
services.  None had. 

 Total 

Question Yes No 

Do you receive sufficient support? 13 1 

Does your support worker treat you with respect? 14 0 

Have Riverside Care and Support enabled you to 
access other services? 

14 0 

Have you been able to have a say in the support you 
receive? 

14 0 

Are you happy in your accommodation? 14 0 

Have you encountered any barriers when accessing 

or using our services? 
0 4 

Are you ready to move on / transfer? 3 7 

The comments section of the feedback form reveals more about the way the service has 
helped and supported customers: 

 “Myself and my family are so thankful for all the support we have been given by our 

support worker.  Our lives have been improved and our children are so much more 

settled and happier in themselves” 

 “Brilliant, eases stress and anxiety for me.  I have received so much help and 

support and I am so grateful.” 

 “The service is brilliant, and they help me a lot and help me do things I can’t do” 

 “I think the care has been brilliant, helpful.  Thank you.” 

 “Boss care and support.” 

 “Very helpful, very good support with accessing schemes in the area.” 

 “Excellent service, helped our family so much.” 

 “I am really happy with everything they are helping me with.” 

 “I have received a lot of support from Clare.  The support I received was amazing, 

always a text or call away, never had to wait.  Couldn’t ask for a better service.” 

 “Gave support when / where needed and treated with respect, nothing at fault.” 

 “Can’t thank you enough for all the support.” 

 “Lovely service from support.” 

 “Everyone has been amazing.  Clare has been the best support; she has done 

things for me that I didn’t even know existed.  Cannot thank her enough.” 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



 

 

There is one exit questionnaire from a family that has transitioned to general needs.  
Their feedback shows that they: 

 Received sufficient support 

 Were treated fairly and with respect by their support worker 

 Were enabled to access other services by Riverside Care and Support 

 Had a say in the support they received 

 Were happy in their accommodation 

 Had not encountered any barriers when accessing or using Riverside Care and 

Support’s services 

The family commented “Excellent service – helped our family so much!!”. 
Customer Interviews 

Interviews 

As part of the final evaluation of the Sefton Families Service we conducted interviews 

with ten customers (50% of the total customer base).  Due to Covid-19 restrictions, 
customers were interviewed via a phone call.  This is not the ideal method for these 
interviews as it makes it difficult to develop a relationship with the interviewee and probe 

their responses and comments.  As a result, the questionnaire focused on collecting 
quantitative information with some comments being recorded as well. 
Before Referral 

Before referral to Sefton Families Service, four customers were living with family, four 

had their own (unstable) accommodation (usually private rented) and two were in 
temporary accommodation (one of these had been evicted and the other had been 
staying with family). 

The reasons for becoming homeless included being evicted (or facing eviction) from their 
accommodation, leaving insanitary or unacceptable private rented accommodation, 

being overcrowded in shared accommodation (usually with family) and breakdown of 
relationships (including domestic violence).  One customer was living with family after 
leaving her home due to being targeted with anti-social behaviour. 

“There was me, my four kids, my mum and my elder daughter who lives with my mum in 
a two-bed flat.” 

“We had an infestation of mice, then there were other problems then the landlord wanted 
us to leave.” 
The length of time customers had been homeless prior to referral to Sefton Families 

Service varied considerably (from a couple of weeks to four months). 
Referral 

Customers were asked how they were referred to Sefton Families Service.  We know 
that all the customers participating in the survey were referred by Housing Options.  

However, six customers did not specifically mention Housing Options.  Instead, they 
referred to the Council, the Housing Department or just “the Housing”. 

Nine of the ten customers were satisfied or very satisfied with the referral process.  Many 
were aware that they were registered on Property Pool (also referred to as the waiting 
list).  A number of customers mentioned that they had little expectation of securing social 

housing via Property Pool despite what they perceived to be their priority status.  Some 
were very understanding about the high demand and limited supply of housing.  The 

customer who wasn’t satisfied felt that they had to wait too long in unsuitable temporary 
accommodation. 
How satisfied were you with the referral process (that is 
the way you were introduced to the Sefton Families 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Service)? 

Very satisfied 5 

Satisfied 4 

Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0 

Not very satisfied 1 

Not satisfied at all 0 

 

“Every time I checked Property Pool there was nothing even though I thought I had a 

high priority.” 
“They (Housing Options) were fine.  They just kept saying there was nothing available.  

But then they passed me on to Riverside so that was fantastic.” 
“They were doing the best they could.” 
The table below shows that eight customers were satisfied or very satisfied with the time 

the referral process took.  This is partly explained by the fact that, as mentioned above, 
some customers understood or accepted that finding them accommodation was difficult.  

A number of customers had previous experience of being homeless and this may have 
limited (or brought some realism) to their expectations.  Also, the fact that they were 
eventually rehoused into accommodation (and, in most cases, had their expectations 

exceeded) may have led to a more positive view of the referral process.  We haven’t got 
the exact figures but four customers mention having previous experience of being 

homeless (our data suggests other may well have been homeless before).  This may 
have limited their expectations regarding the time referral took. 
The majority of customers mention being surprised at being contacted by the Sefton 

Families Service and the speed at which they were rehoused once referred.  Some 
customers felt that they had been waiting for a long time between contacting Housing 

Options and being referred.  One of the customers who wasn’t very satisfied was in 
temporary accommodation and had never been homeless before. 
How satisfied were you with the time the referral process 
took? 

 

Very satisfied 5 

Satisfied 3 

Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0 

Not very satisfied 2 

Not satisfied at all 0 

 

“It felt like it took forever, the place (hotel) that we were in wasn’t nice and it was hard to 

look after my daughter in there.” 
“When Clare rang to offer me the property, I was amazed.” 

“It didn’t feel like I had waited that long.” 

“I knew that it would take some time…I was very happy with the amount of time it did 
take.” 

Eight of the ten customers felt that referral process ran smoothly.  Two felt that it didn’t.  
One of these customers was in temporary accommodation and, clearly, had been very 
desperate to move out. 
Was referral a smooth process?  

Page 30

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Yes 8 

No 2 

 
Only two customers had any further comments about the referral process. 

“It was much better than I expected.” 
“It was frustrating but, in the end, it worked out really well for us.” 
Support 

The table below shows that all customers were very happy with the level of contact they 

have with their Specialist Support Worker. 
  

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



 

 

How happy were you with the level of contact you have / 
had with the Specialist Support Worker? 

 

Very happy 10 

Happy 0 

Neither happy nor unhappy 0 

Not very happy 0 

Not happy at all 0 

 

“They were in touch regularly and I felt that I could get in touch whenever I needed 
something. “ 

All customers were happy with the way support was delivered. 
How happy were you with the way support was 
delivered? 

 

Very happy 10 

Happy 0 

Neither happy nor unhappy 0 

Not very happy 0 

Not happy at all 0 

 

“Since I started working with Clare she has done a hell of a lot for me.  She’s been there 
for me more than my social worker.  I’d recommend the service to anyone.” 

“Mandy has been absolutely fantastic.  She has helped me in so many ways.  Nothing is 
too much trouble.” 
Customers described a variety of methods that were used to deliver support.  All 

customers had weekly contact, as a minimum, with their Specialist Support Worker.  This 
included text messages at the beginning and end of the week, doorstep visits to check 

on progress and visits inside the home to deal with major issues, complete paperwork or 
make home inspections. 
“Every couple of days I’d get a text, then phone calls a couple of times a week to check 

in on me.  Then she started doing doorstep visits.” 
All customers were happy or very happy with the intensive support they received from 

the Specialist Support Worker.  All customers felt that they got all the support they 
needed, that they could request help and expect to get it and that Specialist Support 
Workers often suggested support that they didn’t know they needed.  One customer 

mentioned a document she was given that included contact details for all the support she 
might need in the future.  Many customers valued the contact they had even if it wasn’t 

related to solving a particular problem or providing a specific piece of help or advice.  
Some customers are vulnerable, isolated from social networks and dealing with trauma, 
for them a friendly, supportive chat is a vital service. 
How happy were you with the intensive support you 

received from the Specialist Support Worker? 

 

Very happy 9 

Happy 1 

Neither happy nor unhappy 0 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Not very happy 0 

Not happy at all 0 

 

“She applied for a grant for a charity for my son.  I went through a lot with his Dad and he 
witnessed that.  She could get help for him because of that.  I couldn’t believe it, I was 

like wow, it was quite overwhelming.  We did his room up and that made him settle (in 
the new house) really quick so I could settle as well. He suffers with night terrors and he 

hasn’t had them as much.” 
“She sometimes provides help and information I didn’t ask for; she is very helpful.” 
Customers were very happy with the way that the Specialist Support Worker worked with 

them.  The most common words used to describe the Specialist Support Workers were 
lovely, friendly, caring, empathetic, supportive and committed.  Customers felt that their 

worker understood their needs and was doing everything they could to help them sustain 
their tenancy. 
“She actually related to some of the things I’d gone through.  She understood what had 

happened to us and didn’t judge.” 
There was a feeling that the Specialist Support Worker recognised the level of support a 

customer needed (intensive or otherwise) and responded accordingly. 
“She did everything for me, I mean she wasn’t wiping my backside but she might as well 
have been.” 

Furthermore, some felt that the Specialist Support Worker went above and beyond what 
might be expected of them. 

“Sometimes when I was struggling for food she was there all the time.” 
We used a list of potential areas of support to try and identify what support customers 
received.  However, the nature of the interview format (telephone) meant that probing 

was difficult and, consequently, we did not get an exhaustive list of support received.  
Furthermore, there may have been a reluctance to mention certain areas of support.  As 

a result, we have not quantified the support received.  In order of mentions, the most 
common areas of support received included: 

 Maintaining accommodation 

 Helping to organise utilities 

 Budgeting and managing debts 

 Applying for welfare benefits 

 Managing time and appointments 

 Developing life skills 

 Developing links with family, friends and the community 

 Accessing care & counselling services 

 General health and wellbeing 

 Mental health support 

 Substance/alcohol misuse 

 Tackling offending behaviour 

Help dealing with domestic violence was not mentioned in our list but was mentioned by 
a number of customers. 
Customers didn’t identify any areas of support they needed that they didn’t get. 
The Team 

We asked about the contact customers had with other members of the team.  Most 
customers had contact with (or were aware of) the other Specialist Support Worker (i.e. 
the one they weren’t working with).  A number of customers had also had contact with 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



 

 

the Housing Officer.  Where customers had contact with other members of the team they 
felt that the team member was professional and effective. 

 
External Services 

All customers had been referred to other services by their specialist support worker.  
Generally, they reflect some of the areas of support listed above.  Again, we have not 

quantified the services referred to but in order of mentions they include: 

 Medical services  

 Community participation events and services.  

 Support with domestic violence issues 

 Additional practical and emotional support 

 Psychiatric and community mental health services 

 Education, training and employment related services  

 Personal care services 

 Drug and alcohol services 

As we mentioned above, there may have been a reluctance to mention some areas of 
support accessed.  As a result, the list above may not be exhaustive or reflect the actual 
number of people who accessed these services. 

“Actually, working with Clare means that my social worker isn’t on my back anymore.” 
All customers are happy or very happy with the support they received from external 
services. 
How happy were you with the support you received from 
external services? 

 

Very happy 7 

Happy 3 

Neither happy nor unhappy 0 

Not very happy 0 

Not happy at all 0 

 

Current Accommodation 

All customers were happy or very happy with their accommodation.  A number of 

customers mentioned that the property had exceeded their expectations.  Location, 
particularly proximity to services, was a key benefit identified by some customers.  The 

neighbourhood, including the area being peaceful and the neighbours friendly was also 
mentioned.  One customer had moved from Southport to Bootle.  Whilst this presented 
challenges with changing schools and other services she was very happy with her new 

location. 
How happy are you with your new accommodation?  

Very happy 8 

Happy 2 

Neither happy nor unhappy 0 

Not very happy 0 

Not happy at all 0 

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 4



 

 

“When I saw it (her new property) I was like wow!  It’s a house, the kids have got their 
own rooms, everything is so much better (than her previous private rented flat).” 

“The house is amazing, so much more than I could ever have wished for.” 
All customers settled in easily or very easily.  In part, this was a result of the support they 

received from the team, the fact that the property was furnished and that they got help 
setting up utilities and other services.  Interestingly, none of the customers who needed 
help had trouble arranging benefits to cover rent payments. 

  

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



 

 

How easily did you settle in?  

Very easily 9 

Easily 1 

Neither 0 

Not very easily 0 

Not at all easily 0 

 

All customers got help furnishing their property.  Customers mention getting help with 

sofas, beds, white goods and kitchen equipment amongst other things.  Some had less 
possessions than others and needed more help.  One customer was concerned that 

there wasn’t enough storage in her kitchen.  However, most customers were very happy 
with the furniture and household goods they received.  A couple of customers mentioned 
that they would like to decorate their home but can’t do whilst they are under licence. 

Nine customers wanted to be near family when they were rehoused.  One customer 
specifically didn’t want to be near family because of her past experiences.  Of the nine 

that did want to be near family, one customer felt that they could be nearer.  However, 
they had also wanted to be near their child’s school and this had been accomplished. 
“Basically, the area I’m in now is the area I grew up in.  My Mum and Dad are a five-

minute walk away.” 
The table below shows the positive elements of customers’ new homes.  As mentioned 

above, most customers mention that location and neighbours are a positive element of 
their new accommodation.  All customers feel that the support they receive is a good 
aspect of their new home whilst all but one are positive about getting more independence 

and establishing a routine. 
What is good or bad about your current 
accommodation? 

Good OK Bad 

Location 8 2 0 

Other people who live here 7 3 0 

Support offered 10 0 0 

Level of independence 9 1 0 

The routine of having own home 9 1 0 

 

Impact 

Overall, the impact of the service on customers appears to have been very positive.  
Customer were asked if certain aspects of their life had improved since being rehoused.  

All customers felt that their health, feeling of wellbeing and independence / resilience had 
improved.  One person (who was working) felt that their financial situation hadn’t 
improved but hadn’t got any worse. 
Have any of the following improved since you were 

rehoused?? 

Yes No N/A 

Your health 10 0 0 

Your mental health 7 0 3 

Your feeling of wellbeing 10 0 0 

Page 36

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Your financial situation 9 1 0 

Your independence / resilience 10 0 0 

How you use your time 9 0 1 

 

“I never really went out, now I’m out and about a lot and I sit on the step.” 
“I didn’t realise until I moved how much that place (her old home) had affected me.  Here 

I can open my back door, the children can play out, its lovely.” 
“I’ve taken a lot more steps and I’m closer to where I want to be.  I’m definitely happier 

but my mental health needs a lot more work.  But being in my own space has given me a 
chance to reflect and understand everything (relating to a personal trauma).” 
All customers feel that using the service has been a positive experience.  They also feel 

that it has had a significant impact on their life. 
“It has been brilliant; it has changed my life.” 

“I’ve suffered a lot of anxiety and depression over the last few months and after a few 
weeks here I feel like a completely different person.” 
The Future 

All but two of the customers would be happy to stay in their accommodation for the 

foreseeable future.  Whilst very happy with the accommodation, the two dissenting 
customers wanted to be in a different location.  In one case, this related to being near 
family whilst another customer wanted to be nearer to their child’s school. 
Customer Case Studies 

There are two cases studies which provide more detail about the customers, their 
barriers / challenges, actions taken to help them and outcomes. 
Customer Profile 

The customer profiles show that: 

 The parent of Family 1 had left a rehabilitation unit for alcohol treatment.  She had 

also left the family home with her two children due to a relationship breakdown with 

her ex-husband.  The children of Family 1 stayed with their Grandmother whilst 

their mother completed rehab.  The family were referred by Sefton Housing 

Options.  The parent of Family 1 had previously been in full time employment and 

found it difficult claiming benefits.  

 Family 2 were in a private rented property but had to leave due to the landlord 

selling it.  They were also referred by Sefton Housing Options.  The family includes 

four children under the age of 8.  One parent was in part time employment and the 

family were in financial hardship and had debt.  

Barriers / Challenges 

Both families were experiencing issues with their benefits and suffering financial 
hardship.  The parent in Family 1 had past issues with alcohol and mental health issues. 

Family 2 had debts and three children not receiving childcare that they were eligible for. 
Key Actions 

Specific actions enabled each family to meet their support needs/overcome the 
barriers/challenges.  Details of these actions are show in the table below: 

 Family 1 Family 2 

Actions 
 Referred to Riverside money advice team 

and worked in partnership with them to 
 Supported with applying for free school 

meals for the children  

Page 37

Agenda Item 4



 

 

ensure correct UC and HB entitlement 

 Referred to Southport Food Pantry for 
weekly food items at a low cost 

 Warm home discount application 

 Obtained 15-hour childcare eligibility 
vouchers for children to attend nursery 

 Free hot meals application for children in 

nursery  

 Funded cost of uniforms for children from 
tenant participation fund  

 Attended CAB to address debt issues 

 Application to Sefton Helping Hands for 
chest of drawers 

 The service funded a school activity club 

for their eldest son 

 During pandemic, application for food 
bank parcels, free school meal weekly 
vouchers 

 Successfully applied for £200 CHT 
resettlement grant and £150 cash 
voucher from the Riverside Tenancy 

Sustainment Fund 

 Referred to Ambition Sefton for support 
with previous alcohol issues 

 Support with registering with local GP 
surgery and review of medication 

 Referred to Households into Work, 
which offered a telephone support 
service during the Covid-19 lockdown 

and will work towards becoming job 
ready. Also supporting with UC issues 

 Successfully applied for £100 

supermarket vouchers from Riverside 
Tenancy Sustainment Fund 

 Successfully applied for £1,280 from 
Family Action Survival Fund. This is 

towards food and essential items, 
furniture items, toys and play 
equipment, TV, TV license, laptop and 

utility arrears. This is a fund for people 
affected financially by the pandemic 

 

Outcomes / Impact 

Outcomes for each family are: 

 Family 1 moved into a property and then three weeks later lockdown restrictions 

were introduced.  The parent felt isolated and struggled financially as the children 

were off school and indoors most of the time.  Weekly vouchers were secured for 

the children from their schools for the equivalent of free school meals they would be 

getting in school.  The parent was referred to Sefton Households into Work and 

accessed their weekly telephone support service.  The parent is working towards 

part time employment and Households into Work are helping with this.  This 

ameliorated some of her anxiety relating to feeling isolated.  She is also engaging 

with her GP.   The parent has peer support from the rehabilitation unit she 

previously resided in.  She was also referred to Ambition for extra help around this 

issue.  The pandemic has financially impacted the family as they had to buy more 

food/essential items as the children were off school, utility bills have also increased.  

The family received £100 funding from the Riverside Tenancy Sustainment Fund 

and £1,280 from the Family Action Survival Fund. This took a massive pressure off 

the family and they have been able to purchase items for the children as well as 

pay towards utility arrears.  

 Family 2 are now receiving the correct amount of Universal Credit.  One of the 

parents does not have to attend work related appointments at the job centre, due to 

being classed as the main carer for the children.  They are in receipt of full housing 

benefit. They attend the Food Pantry and can purchase fresh foods at a low cost, 

as they are a family of 6.  During winter months there will be credit to their gas 

meter, their eldest son has health issues and has a low immune system.  The three 

youngest children now attend a local nursery three days per week.  Financial 

hardship is being tackled and they are working with CAB to address their debt.  The 

service funded the cost of uniforms for the children so they were able to start 

nursery.  The family have successfully demonstrated they can manage a tenancy 

and have transferred to a general needs starter tenancy.  The family have been 
Page 38

Agenda Item 4



 

 

referred back to the IMAX team to ensure any benefit issues are addressed as they 

start to claim Universal Credit housing costs.  Family 2 have signed up for the keep 

in touch service. 

  

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Team Interviews 

Interviews 

Interviews were conducted with: 

 Service Manager (Interim and Final Evaluation) 

 Specialist Support Worker (Interim and Final Evaluation) 

 Second Specialist Support Worker (Final Evaluation) 

 The Housing Officer (Interim Evaluation) 

 Area Manager (Final Evaluation) 

 Riverside Housing Services Manager – Sefton (Final Evaluation) 

Progress 

The service is performing within the contractual agreement with Sefton Council.  Key 
achievements include: 

 Met the contractual target of rehousing 20 customers 

 In total, 23 customers have been engaged by the service 

 Two customers have given notice.  These customers have returned to family or 

moved out of the area, etc. 

 Move-ons have been positive and there have been no abandonments 

 Five customers have now transferred to general needs 

 The contract for delivering the Sefton Families Service has been extended until 

June 2022 on a block payment contract not on PBR (i.e. more traditional 

commissioned service) with the addition of 10 more properties 

Outcomes 

The Sefton Families Service proposal stated that it would develop a two-year pilot of a 
dispersed tenancies service for homeless families within Sefton that supports families to: 

 Sustain tenancies – there are twenty families sustaining tenancies including five 

families who have now transitioned to a general needs tenancy 

 Maximise independence – families have greater financial security, housing stability, 

children are accessing education regularly and families have the potential to move 

towards economic independence through work and training 

 Reduce social isolation – families are now, if they want to be, in accommodation 

close to familial and community networks.  However, lockdown did lead to less 

contact with friends, family and support networks for many people 

 Improve health and wellbeing – there is some evidence that health and wellbeing 

has improved.  Certainly, families are accessing health services (e.g. health 

visitors) that they disengaged from whilst in temporary accommodation.  Also, 

around half of the customers have mental health issues such as anxiety and 

depression which have been alleviated (at least) by the change in their 

circumstances and the opportunity to engage with relevant support services 

There are no plans to amend the stated outcomes as the life of the service progresses.  

As we shall see below, Covid-19 has impacted the method of delivery and processes but 
not the outcomes. 
The team feel that the contractual outcomes are being delivered very effectively.  

Tenancy sustainment is a key measure and the basis for payments being made to 

Page 40

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Riverside by Sefton Council.  The performance data in Section 3 shows that this 
outcome is being delivered.  Measurement of the remaining three outcomes is more 

subjective.  However, evidence from customer interviews suggests that these outcomes 
are being achieved as well. 

“It is very positive.  Things are going really well.  We are getting a lot of positive 
feedback.” 
The team feel that they can demonstrate that they have exceeded the planned 

contractual outcomes and added further value.  Examples (e.g. grant applications, 
dealing with debt and arrears) are provided below. 

“We are working with so-called chaotic families.  But when you work with them and 
support them you realise they aren’t.  They are families who needed better support, 
guidance and bit more attention than other families.  They want to keep their family 

together and they want to keep their homes.” 
Customers 

The situation of customers prior to becoming homeless varies.  However, it includes:  

 A significant number of families fleeing domestic violence 

 Relationship breakdown 

 Families evicted because of arrears or families with arrears who are not accepted by 

private landlords 

 Families that have been living with wider family in overcrowded conditions 

 A couple of families evicted because their landlord was selling the property 

 A family where the parent had left rehabilitation services for alcohol dependency 

 A family that left their home due to being victims of anti-social behaviour 

 A family in private rented accommodation that was unfit for habitation 

 Some families require the support of social services, particularly in relation to child 

protection 

Very few customers engaged by the service were resident in the Lonsdale Road 

Homeless Unit or living in hotels, B&Bs and other temporary accommodation.  As such, 
the service has been used in a pre-emptive manner to avoid use of the types of 

temporary accommodation often used for homeless families. 
Customers’ needs / issues vary but include: 

 Substance misuse (this is exclusively alcohol misuse amongst current customers) 

 Child protection 

 Fleeing domestic violence 

 Mental health issues 

Process 

The process envisaged by the Riverside Impact Fund proposal was that referrals would 
come from Housing Options.  The plan was that: 

 Housing Options would assess and refer all cases 

 The Service Manager would have the opportunity to challenge the referral if felt the 

family is too high risk e.g. the family requires more intense support than the service 

can offer 

 Criteria would include: 

o Being homeless or threatened with homelessness 

o Being resident in Sefton or having a local connection to the area 

o Having a support need, which impacts on their ability to sustain a tenancy 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4



 

 

o Being aged 18 or over 

o Having recourse to public funds such as Universal Credit (or Housing Benefit 

where relevant) 

 If there were more applications than vacancies available, the successful 

applications would have been prioritised as follows: 

o Referrals fleeing violence 

o Referrals currently homeless 

o Referrals in immediate risk of becoming homeless 

o Referrals currently in unsuitable housing 

When a property becomes available the Specialist Support Worker will contact Housing 
Options to establish if there are any families who would be interested in that particular 
property.  This allows families to be rehoused where they have a local connection and 

can access wider support networks.  This does not always work out.  One family that 
were keen to get out of temporary accommodation took a property some distance from 

their family support but were, eventually, unhappy with the property / location.  However, 
the team were able to subsequently rehouse the family nearer their support network. 
In the last six months demand has increased.  Housing Options have a steady flow of 

families they can refer to the service.  The expectation is that the demand on Housing 
Options and the Sefton Families Service will increase as a result of the lifting of the 

eviction ban put in place for Covid-19. 
Four months into the service, lockdown was introduced.  The Housing Options team 
were working from home during lockdown and had limited contact with customers.  

Furthermore, the crisis relating to single homeless and rough sleepers was, 
understandably, a greater priority for Housing Options during lockdown. 

Consequently, the Specialist Support Worker took over the task of assessing customers 
and managing the referral process including welfare checks and resolution of arrears / 
debt issues.  This involved liaising with social workers and the Housing Options team.  

The Specialist Support Workers feel that this method is probably more effective.  In 
particular, as they will be offering ongoing support it makes them aware from the outset 

of the needs of the family. 
“It (handling assessments) was just easier this way and was more effective in creating an 
understanding of customer needs and developing an action plan.” 

Whilst the team are able to refuse a referral they have not done so.  This suggests that 
Housing Options are aware of the criteria for acceptance and are referring appropriate 

customers. 
Customers are entered onto Mainstay (the Merseyside system for access to short-term 
Housing Related Support services).  If customers are accepted, they are invited to view 

the available property.  The Housing Officer will then put together the furniture package 
that the family require. 

The initial assessment includes establishing the full background of the referral including 
previous addresses, rent arrears and budgeting issues.  The assessment is then 
reviewed with the Service Manager and (if the customer is suitable) approved. 

Once referred, few customers have had to wait very long to be rehoused.  This is 
because a property is usually available when a referral is requested.  The exception are 

customers who want to be rehoused in an area where properties are not available. 
Support for Families 

Key areas of support from the Specialist Support Workers include 
 Applying for welfare benefits 

 Helping organise utilities and other bills / payments 

Page 42

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 Applying for permanent housing 
 Developing life skills 

 Budgeting and managing debts 
 Monitoring rent accounts and benefits 

 Advice on care and counselling services 
 Putting in place safeguards to stabilise and manage crisis situations including 

situations relating to domestic violence, hate crime and anti-social behaviour 

 Understanding the licence agreements 
 Making links within the community 

 Supporting customers with the school/educational and other needs of the children. 

A key element of support for customers is around rent arrears and debt.  There was an 
initial misunderstanding (between the council and the service team) about how arrears 
should be dealt with.  This was a challenge for the service in its early days and it is 

testament to the levels of cooperation across the service that a solution was quickly 
identified. 

If arrears are identified, the Specialist Support Worker will apply to external agencies for 
funding to tackle debt and arrears.  Housing Options are also able to offer £500 from 
their Hardship Fund to tackle arrears.  Debt / arrears management was made much more 

effective by One Vision and Sefton Council agreeing to reduce arrears by 50% if the 
balance could be secured from other sources.  There are charitable trusts the Specialist 

Support Worker can apply to for help with ameliorating arrears.  The Specialist Support 
Worker has applied for grants from the Church Homeless Trust and the Vicar’s Relief 
Fund.  If arrears are carried forward into the new property (e.g. if the customer is a 

former Riverside tenant) a payment plan is put in place.  This element of the support has 
become an integral part of referral and assessment since the Specialist Support Worker 

took over the assessment role.  Again, it has resulted in a more efficient process that 
ensures that customers who are accepted are not going to be hindered by past debt / 
arrears issues. 

” I had a family with £3,000 in arrears.  Whilst they were on the waiting list I worked with 
the former landlord and made sure that this debt was tackled.” 

A key element of the Specialist Support Workers work is tenancy support.  Their work is 
augmented by support from other teams within Riverside. This includes Riverside’s 
Income Maximisation (IMAX) team.  IMAX provide money advice.  Riverside also provide 

support through their Affordable Warmth team e.g. in relation to utility debt.  The 
Specialist Support Worker has also referred a customer to the employment and training 

team within Riverside.  Support for areas such as benefits is also provided via referral to 
Sefton Welfare Rights.  More recently, Riverside’s Former Tenant’s Arrears team have 
worked with a customer who had a tenancy with Riverside to reduce the amount of 

arrears in return for following an agreed payment plan. 
A key element of support relates to sustaining the tenancy.  There are differing levels of 

support needed to achieve this. 
“Some are quite capable of sustaining their tenancy, for instance some of those fleeing 
domestic violence.  Others, like those who have had evictions in the past, may need 

more intensive support.” 
A number of customers have a social worker.  A key element of the Specialist Support 

Worker’s role is liaising with the social worker to ensure that the family sustain their 
tenancy but also that any safeguarding concerns continue to be monitored and 
addressed. 

External agency referrals include Households into Work (supporting families, in which 
two or more people are in long-term unemployment, find meaningful work) and Family 

Wellbeing Centres (offering support relating to parenting, health, relationships, 
Page 43

Agenda Item 4



 

 

education, employment, etc.).  The Specialist Support Workers have also referred 
customer (or family members) to the Area Health Teams  

During the lockdowns, the Specialist Support Worker also liaised with food banks in 
Sefton to ensure that families (most of whom are on benefits) were not going short 

(particularly as families were spending more money on food when children were not in 
school). 
The Specialist Support Workers have applied to the Buttle Trust for grants for children 

who have witnessed domestic violence.  Grants have averaged £2,000 and covered 
everything from counselling to extra-curricular activities to clothing, toys and bedroom 

items.  They have also worked with Family Action to secure grants for welfare and 
educational grants (the latter to assist with technology for home schooling during the 
pandemic). 

Another key element of the process is assessing then sourcing the furniture package that 
each tenant needs.  A service charge for furniture is levied and this is determined by 

whether they need the full package or some elements of it. 
Some customers already have support in place for existing needs (e.g. substance 
misuse, child protection plan, etc).  In these cases, the Specialist Support Worker will 

liaise with their case workers or social worker.  However, there are customers who can 
be helped by being referred to other agencies.  Customers have been referred to: 

 Ambition Sefton (help and support with alcohol or drug problems)  

 The Venus Family Centre (support, advice and information and activities women, 

young women, families and children) 

 SWACA (an independent domestic abuse service for women and children) 

 The Early Help team (identifying children and families that may be at risk of running 

into difficulties and providing timely and effective support) 

 Social Services 

“A sign of progression is a family with a child protection plan who (having engaged with 
services and met all requirements) moved to child in need (a lower level of need) and is 

now working with the area health team.” 
The Team 

There are currently three members of the team: 

 There are two Specialist Support Workers.  One worker was appointed at the start 

of the service and the other was appointed in the Autumn of 2020.  These two 

workers are the only full-time members of the team.  They are responsible for most 

of the activities described in this report.  This includes: 

o Notifying Housing Options that a property is available 

o Identifying potential tenants from the list sent by Housing Options. 

o Assessing the priority and suitability of referrals e.g. establishing if they are 

interested in the area the property is located in 

o Completing the Mainstay assessment 

o Determining the furniture needs of the customer 

o Undertaking welfare checks 

o Assisting with benefit claims and setting up utility and other bill payments 

o Developing support plans and supporting the family 

o Referring to other support agencies 

o Managing transition to general needs 

 The Service Manager.  She oversees the service, recruits the Specialist Support 

Workers, manages claims and invoicing and liaises with the stakeholders, other 

Page 44

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Riverside teams and the Commissioners.  The Service Manager also manages the 

Liverpool Dispersed tenancy service. 

 The Housing Officer (who also works on other Riverside services) is responsible for 

managing the property and the tenancy.  This includes managing the void property, 

arranging decoration of the property, preparing the sign-up pack, signing up 

tenants, arranging the furniture package, managing the claims for housing benefit 

and dealing with any housing management issues such as anti-social behaviour. 

“I have really enjoyed the job and find it really rewarding.” 
The Service Manager feels that the team have worked very well and are very effective.  

There are no issues with staffing or resource so far. 
Properties 

Properties have to be identified then approved by Treasury within Riverside.  The cost to 
the tenant is a set affordable rent and a variable service charge.  The affordable rent 

means that if the family transition to general needs they can afford to live there. 
Properties are usually void (vacant) for some time whilst repairs are carried out.  The 

property is painted, carpeted and blinds are installed.  The customer provides a list of 
furniture they need and white goods are provided alongside the furniture package.  Some 
additional adaptations are made to properties provided to victims of domestic violence to 

provide extra security (e.g. alarms, fire retardant letter boxes, etc.). 
The team are very happy with the quality of the properties provided and the relationship 

they have had with Riverside’s general needs and assets teams.  In recent months, two 
new build properties have been supplied to the service. 
This process has led to a minor issue.  Whilst on licence customers cannot decorate their 

property, this is something that some of them would like to do. 
Generally, the team feel that the supply of property has matched the needs of customers.  

Geographical location is an issue.  Staff feel that there can be too many in certain areas 
(e.g. Bootle, Seaforth and Litherland) and not enough in other areas.  However, supply is 
based on what is available and voids within the more sought-after areas like Southport 

and Maghull seldom come up.  Sefton Council are understanding of the fact properties in 
the more sought-after areas like Southport and Maghull are rare (see section 6 below).  

Overall, staff are generally happy with the quality, location and suitability of properties 
provided. 
There are fewer properties available in areas such as Southport and Maghull although a 

couple of properties in Netherton were made available.  The lack of availability in these 
areas appears to have been exacerbated by the pandemic (and the eviction ban) with 

even fewer vacancies becoming available in areas such as Southport.  Ironically, the 
lifting of the eviction ban appears likely to increase the demand for support from 
homeless families.  If the service became permanent, there is the potential to look at 

working with other housing providers or private landlords in areas where the supply of 
properties is scarce. 

“We work with Jon (Farrell) and his team to get the right properties, he’s really good.” 
One family did feel isolated in the property they were allocated.  The Service Manager 
feels that they took the property to get out of the hostel as soon as they could.  The 

family have now been rehoused to a more appropriate property.  This flexibility allows the 
service to achieve its outcomes by meeting the needs of customers. 

“We don’t want anyone to fail so we’ll do whatever is possible to help them.” 
There have been minor issues with some properties (which is to be expected).  The 
Specialist Support Worker has reported such issues and is working with the families to 

encourage them to take responsibility for reporting any housing management issues.  

Page 45

Agenda Item 4



 

 

The Housing Officer was happy with the families rehoused and felt that they were easy to 
manage during their tenancy and had not presented any problems or issues. 
Impact on Customers 

A major impact of the service is on the general wellbeing of the customers and restoring 
their independence. 
“It’s massive because they have been in hostels, B&Bs or living with family members for 

months and months.” 
Whilst in hostels or other accommodation many customers disengage from the services 

and support they need.  Housing has a significant impact on health.  Customers start to 
reengage with social workers, health visitors, go to children’s centres and begin to 
consistently access support for specific health and mental health needs.  One resident 

with substance misuse issues in the past was able to fully engage with the support she 
needs. 
Covid-19 and Lockdown 

The Covid-19 pandemic, lockdown and the related restrictions has resulted in changes to 

the way the service has been delivered.  As mentioned above, Covid-19 did mean that 
the Specialist Support Worker took over the role of assessing customers for referral.  
From the perspective of team members, it is felt that this development streamlined 

referrals and made the process easier.  Day to day support continued to be delivered in 
person in some circumstances but telephone contact also became more important than it 

might have been. 
As mentioned above, the consequences of the eviction ban may be twofold: 

 A more limited supply of properties for the service 

 A potential surge in demand when the ban is lifted 

The causal link between Covid-19 lockdowns and domestic violence is still being 

examined.  However, there was a clear surge in cases that led to an increase in demand 
for services such as Housing Options.  A significant proportion of the customers referred 

to the Families Service are domestic violence victims, given that the service and Covid-
19 are coterminous we cannot establish whether domestic violence referrals would have 
been lower if the pandemic had not happened. 

The Housing Officer felt that Covid-19 had not really affected housing management.  In 
part, this was a result of some tenants not being particularly demanding or challenging. 

For some customers, phone calls and regular texts were the main form of 
communication.  However, because some customers were vulnerable it was necessary 
to continue face to face support.  This was possible with use of appropriate PPE and, if 

possible, doorstep visits.  Covid-19 has impacted on the methods of support with many 
meetings being virtual. 

“It wouldn’t be the first-choice method of support but I think they got the same results.” 
Covid-19 did cause some delays to properties becoming available.  This was caused by 
the company Riverside use to furnish properties ceasing deliveries for some time at the 

start of the first lockdown. 
A further challenge relating to Covid-19 was that many support services were not fully 
operational.  The services they offer were reduced, physical appointments were not 

available and demand for service was not being managed as effectively.  Furthermore, 
services such as mental health were facing a massive increase in demand.  This 

presented a challenge for the team and led them to explore other avenues of support. 
Partners / Stakeholders 

As mentioned above, a key relationship is with Housing Options.  However, this has 
changed during Covid-19.  Assessments are now being carried out by the Specialist 

Page 46

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Support Workers rather than Housing Options.  At times, the flow and volume of referrals 
has been sporadic.  However, the team understand that this has been a result of intense 

pressure from the volume of single homeless Housing Options are dealing with. 
The team also work with a variety of support services throughout Sefton including social 

workers, Sefton domestic abuse team, health visitors, children’s centres, debt advice, 
etc.  These are crucial to sustaining tenancies and achieving outcomes relating to health, 
wellbeing, financial stability, etc.  Many of these services have continued to offer support 

virtually through regular phone calls. 
As mentioned above, the team work closely with IMAX, Affordable Warmth and other 

teams within Riverside.  
” I feel that I have built really good working relationships with my team and the teams we 
work with across Riverside.” 

There are quarterly meetings with Sefton Council.  The team feel that the commissioners 
are happy with their work.  In particular, they take the fact that service is to be extended 

as a sign that they are doing well. 
General Needs 

Five customers have now transitioned to general needs accommodation.  The service 
offers a Keep in Touch service for eight weeks follow on support.  The Specialist Support 

Worker calls the family every two weeks to ensure that their tenancy is running smoothly.  
The family are then referred to Riverside internal services.  This includes the IMAX team 
and the intensive support service. 

The key point is that if the team feel that a customer is not ready they will not be 
transitioned to general needs.  The Housing Officer responsible for the property once it is 

in general needs also has to agree to the transition.  This includes checking there are no 
issues with neighbours, all arrears are cleared and that the tenancy has been conducted 
in an appropriate way. 

A key element of the transition is the switch from Housing Benefit support for the 
supported tenancy to Universal Credit Housing Costs for the general needs tenancy.  

This required support from the Specialist Support Worker and Riverside’s Money Advice 
team. 
The team feel that all their current tenants in temporary accommodation are on course to 

transition to general needs.  The key variable that determines when they will transition is 
the extent to which they currently need to be supported. 
The tenants now in general needs are doing well.  There is some confidence that 

customers will be able to sustain their general needs tenancies for as long as they want 
them. 
Payment by Results 

The Support Workers feel that payment by results does not impact the way the service is 

delivered. 
” I don’t feel under any pressure to deliver results, I am just doing my job in the same 

way I have in the past.  Obviously, I have to make sure that all my records are up to date 
and documented.” 
However, it is a new way of working for the Service Manager and has required 

adaptation and adjustment from the delivery model she is used to. 
“It is a long process, particularly internally with the housing side and the finance side.  

There are a lot of steps to get from a referral to rehousing someone.” 
There is a feeling that payment by results is appropriate for a pilot but would be less 
attractive as part of a tendered competitive contract. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Challenges 

All members of staff feel that the service has been relatively straightforward to deliver 
and that there have been few challenges.  Some members of the team did expect 

customers to be more chaotic and present more challenges. 
As mentioned above, Covid-19 did present challenges but they have been addressed. 
The biggest challenge the team has faced was when a family left the service.  The 

circumstances of the case were beyond the control of the team.  In brief, a safeguarding 
issue with a child led to their eligibility for support from the service being withdrawn. 

A smaller challenge at the start of the service related to claiming Housing Benefits.  This 
revolved around the Housing Benefits team’s definition of supported temporary 
accommodation (which is eligible for Housing Benefit) and whether tenants should claim 

Universal Credit.  This has now been resolved. 
As mentioned above, a challenge at the start of the service related to how customers 

with arrears should be dealt with.  However, this was resolved quite early in the service 
and the approach mentioned above was adopted. 
Another challenge (which the team think has been met) and mentioned elsewhere in this 

section is the supply of properties. 
Innovation 

There were a number of aspects of the service that were innovative or different for 
Riverside.  This includes; 

 Delivering their first payments by results service 

 Delivering their first dispersed families service of this type.  The service adopted 

something akin to a Housing First approach for families 

 Delivering their first Care and Support service in Sefton.  This has been a key step 

and has been rewarded by the service being extended and Riverside being 

awarded a contract to deliver an accommodation pathway service for rough 

sleepers 

 Delivering a service with, perhaps, a more holistic approach that exploited many 

areas of Riverside’s infrastructure.  The service drew on a number of teams across 

Care and Support and general needs to ensure that outcomes were achieved 

 Given that Riverside Care and Support had no track record in Sefton, developing 

relationships and connections with other agencies from scratch (in a pandemic) 

was a major achievement by the team 

 Reputationally, the service has been a major success.  The team and, possibly, 

Riverside as a whole are seen as an organisation that will rise to a challenge, 

innovate and persevere to make a service succeed 

Deadweight 

We asked what would have happened to the customers without this service.  At best, 
progression to living in independent accommodation would have been much slower.  
However, there may have been consequences relating to health, wellbeing, family 

cohesion, etc. that would have been detrimental if they had not been rehoused.  The long 
wait to leave hostel / B&B accommodation combined with standing rent arrears means 

that many would still be in temporary accommodation. 
“One of my customers said that felt she would have had her child removed from her if 
she had not been rehoused by the service.” 

Page 48

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Value for Money 

The team feel that the service should be providing value for money.  It has led to stability 
for families that may have needed long stays in temporary accommodation whilst 

appropriate accommodation was found. 
The Future 

The pilot service was due to be completed by December 2021 but has been extended 
until June 2022.  This means that the service will continue to accept referrals until August 
2021.  The team will be assessing referrals to ensure that nine months will be enough 

time to support the families appropriately.  The contract extension will not be delivered on 
a payment by result basis.  The willingness of Sefton Council to extend the service is 

evidence that it has been successful and is needed. 
The team feel that the service is sustainable and could be run cost-effectively as a 
mainstream commissioned service. 

The team also feel that the model adopted in Sefton could be transferred to other areas 
where Riverside has a significant housing stock and families’ services are needed (e.g. 

Knowsley and the Wirral). 

  

Page 49

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Stakeholder Interviews 

Interviews 

Interviews were conducted with: 

 Riverside Business Development Officer – North East and North West (Region 1 

and Region 6) 

 Strategic Housing Officer - Sefton Council 

 Housing Options Team Leader – Sefton Council 

 Riverside Senior Business Development Officer (Final Evaluation) 

 Riverside Acting Senior Business Development Officer (Interim Evaluation). 

Project Rationale 

Sefton Council have an action within their Homeless Strategy to source additional 
dispersed accommodation for homeless families.  This meant that the opportunity 

presented by the Riverside Investment Fund was attractive to Sefton Council.   
Space in the homeless families’ hostel at Lonsdale Road is limited and cannot meet 

demand.  Furthermore, it is in the south of the borough and the council wanted to provide 
a dispersed model that provided housing nearer to a family’s last known address.  The 
limited capacity of Lonsdale Road and absence of dispersed options meant that Sefton’s 

costs relating to B&B and hotel provision had risen significantly.  Beside this pragmatic 
reason, the motivation for commissioning the service was twofold: 

 Providing a permanent, rather than temporary, solution to the issues presented by 

some of the borough’s most chaotic homeless families 

 Reducing dependence on B&Bs and hotels which are not appropriate place to 

temporarily house homeless families 

Importantly, Sefton were willing to test a new approach.  The service adopted an 

approach that is similar to Housing First.  This is a housing and support approach which 
gives people (usually single homeless) a stable home from which to rebuild their lives.  It 
provides intensive, person-centred, holistic support that is open-ended and places no 

conditions on individuals.  The difference is that Housing First projects should adhere 
strictly to seven key principles1.  Whilst Sefton Families Service delivery matched many 

aspects of these principles there was no insistence that it adhere to them. 
The service also adopted an approach that had been used in Riverside’s Dispersed 
Housing Service in Liverpool.  However, a key difference was that Sefton required 

Specialist Support Workers who could offer the intensive support that the customers 
needed. 

Despite the absence of a track record of care and support contracts in Sefton the council 
did not view the award of a contract as a leap of faith. 
“They are a huge RSL (Registered Social Landlord) in terms of national RSL and have a 

lot of presence in the Liverpool City Region.  Even though they are not our biggest stock 
transfer RSL it still made sense to go with them.” 

Riverside worked with Sefton Council to map agencies, charities and organisations that 
could provide support for homeless families.  This enabled the team to create a network 
of support services in an area where they hadn’t previously operated. 

                                                 
1
https://hfe.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/The%20Principles%20for%20Housing%20First.

pdf  

Page 50

Agenda Item 4

https://hfe.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/The%20Principles%20for%20Housing%20First.pdf
https://hfe.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/The%20Principles%20for%20Housing%20First.pdf


 

 

Customers 

The council felt that the service offered the opportunity to meet the needs of chaotic 
families.  The option of rehousing and offering intensive support appealed because it had 

the potential to break a cycle of re-presentation before the council’s homeless services 
by some customers. 
“This service would support those most chaotic families that had a history of evictions, 

rent arrears and ASB (antisocial behaviour).  To put them into a service with a high level 
of support but trial it with a licence.  A carrot and stick approach of a possible tenancy at 

the end of the licence.” 
Financial hardship is often the bedrock of the fractured housing history of many of the 
customers. 

“A lot of the families we have worked with have been benefit capped.  So, they have a 
big problem around rent arrears.” 

The benefit cap limits the overall amount that people can claim if they’re unemployed by 
reducing their Housing Benefit.  There is a fear that the pandemic and the eviction ban 
may have doubled the number of people affected by the benefit cap.2. 

In many instances, financial distress is accompanied by other complex issues such as 
substance misuse, harassment, antisocial behaviour, child protection issues and 

domestic violence. 
“In Sefton we do have quite a big problem with gangs which has impacted a lot of 
families that need our support. There are risks to some of these families from remaining 

in certain areas so we have had to relocate them into temporary accommodation.” 
Referral 

The council are happy with the referral process.  As mentioned above, case workers 
within Housing Options are identifying chaotic families with a history of failed tenancies 

and a requirement for intensive support.  Case workers are very aware of the work that 
Riverside are doing with customers and select referrals that can benefit from that 
support. 

Housing Options are happy that the Sefton Families Service are now carrying out 
assessments.  It relieves the pressure on case workers with a very high case load 

(around 50 cases) who over the last eighteen months have been dealing with high levels 
of demand from single homeless people.  Furthermore, the council realise that the 
Specialist Support Worker can build a relationship prior to rehousing to allow them to 

plan support and manage expectations.  This is similar to the pre-engagement process 
adopted by Housing First projects. 
Outcomes / Impact 

The council are very happy with the progress the service has made.  The progress to 

deliver outcomes is evident from the quarterly returns (see section 3).  However, the 
case studies provided to the council (see section 3) have made it evident that work 

around the service’s aims (sustaining tenancies, maximising independence, reducing 
social isolation and improving health and wellbeing) are also being met.   
“The service has progressed to the point where we are extending by six months and 

expanding capacity to thirty properties.” 
Sustaining tenancies is an important element of the service because it is unlikely to be 

happening if other needs are not being addressed.  Sustaining tenancies is also 
important because it is something the customers have struggled to achieve in the past.  It 
is evidence that the Housing First informed approach is being effective. 

                                                 
2
 https://cpag.org.uk/news-blogs/news-listings/hitting-home-benefit-cap-and-child-homelessness  

Page 51

Agenda Item 4

https://cpag.org.uk/news-blogs/news-listings/hitting-home-benefit-cap-and-child-homelessness


 

 

“You are touching on Maslow’s Hierarchy of Needs, if you give someone a tenancy 
everything else follows from that.” 

In terms of impact, the service means that there have been no repeat presentations to 
Housing Options from any family referred to Riverside.  This is regarded as a key 

measure of success and a significant achievement.  This also demonstrates that, so far, 
the service has eliminated failure demand (duplication and inefficient use of services 
caused by the inability to tackle the root cause of the subject’s situation).  We will 

examine the fiscal impact of the service in section 7 (below) but the cost of a re-
presentation to Housing Options is estimated to be around £600 per week. 

There is limited quantitative evidence to allow us to measure the wider impact of the 
service.  However, stakeholders reinforce the view of the Service’s team that the service 
is likely to have had a positive influence on the work of support agencies and on the 

wider community.  The exception is those agencies that might experience higher demand 
(possibly mental health services) because customers are now being supported (and 

emboldened) to seek help with their issues. 
There have been no abandonments and no failures of either licences or tenancies.  
There was an agreement that Riverside would offer customers another option if the 

licence / tenancy failed but this has not been required so far.  As a result, the council feel 
that the most unexpected outcome of the service is the number of customers sustaining 

their tenancy.  Their knowledge and prior experience of the customers led them to expect 
that there would be some failures. 
Properties 

The council mentioned that the aim of providing accommodation near to the customer’s 

last known address has been challenging.  They understand that supply has been driven 
by the location of Riverside stock and, more importantly, the availability of that stock. 
“It is just a case of being realistic.  If someone has come from Crosby, you are not going 

to get a Crosby address are you?” 
“If they are from Southport, it doesn’t matter which housing association you deal with 

stock is limited.  We have to have a very frank conversation about their expectations and 
manage it right from the beginning.” 
There is the possibility of enhancing the supply of housing by linking it to Sefton’s Empty 

Homes Plan3. 
“We are getting into the area of Housing Strategy.  If a model like this was commissioned 
long term you could look at the Council’s Empty Homes Plan to possibly link any empty 

homes into the service.  The council could bring them up to standard then transfer them 
across.  That way you would get a more dispersed stock.” 

The council are very happy with the standard of the properties being offered to 
customers.  In particular, they mentioned the effort put into decorating and furnishing 
properties to ensure that customers can move in with ease. 

“What people are moving into is such a great start, normally it wouldn’t be that way but 
they are moving into a home not a house.” 
Working with Riverside 

The council are happy with the way that the Sefton Families Service team have delivered 

the service.  They feel that there is mutual cooperation and a willingness to raise 
concerns and offer help or support when required. 

“It is all very positive and, from our perspective, the service is running itself.  We don’t 
need to manage it which has been a blessing for the last twelve months when we have 
been so stretched in other areas.” 

                                                 
3
 https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/3598/empty-homes-plan-2019-24.pdf 

Page 52

Agenda Item 4

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/3598/empty-homes-plan-2019-24.pdf


 

 

The council feel that their relationship with Riverside has strengthened as a result of the 
way that the Sefton Families Service has been delivered. 

“We have explored other opportunities with Riverside on the back of this.  That includes 
the rough sleeper accommodation programme.” 

“The service has strong political support within Sefton.  The report proposing the 
extension was approved very quickly by the Cabinet member responsible.” 
Riverside’s Business Development Officer responsible for Sefton has observed a 

significant change in the relationship with Sefton.  This has been driven by the successful 
delivery of the Sefton Families Service.  Recently, Sefton invited Riverside to work with 

them on the Next Step Accommodation Programme (a Government programme aimed at 
transitioning from the Everyone In rough sleeper initiative to longer term solutions).  Also, 
a market test brief issued by Sefton aimed at converting properties for use as temporary 

accommodation drew on their experience with the families’ service.  Riverside are now 
discussing this project with Sefton.  This suggests that the RIF has not only been 

successful in the context of the families service but has led to the development of an 
ongoing relationship that should benefit Sefton and Riverside. 
Covid-19 

The council are happy with the way the service has been delivered, despite the issues 

that might have been created by the pandemic.  Key areas include: 

 Switching assessments from the Housing Options case worker to the Specialist 

Support Worker.  This is discussed above 

 An issue at the start of Covid-19 was that there weren’t many families presenting as 

homeless.  This was partly a result of the ban on evictions.  However, the number 

of customers has increased and is, in part, a result of an increase in domestic 

violence cases.  Interestingly, domestic violence cases presenting to Housing 

Options were lower in the early stages of the pandemic but have increased in the 

last nine months. 

Challenges 

There have been some challenges but relatively few.  The council are generally happy 
with the way Riverside have responded when an issue has been identified.  This includes 
the response to Covid-19 mentioned above.  One challenge was agreeing on how to deal 

with rent arrears.  This has already been explored in Section 5 above.  However, the 
council appreciated the effort put into resolving he arrears policy in a timely fashion. 

“The approach to arrears was ironed out pretty quickly.  We now have processes in place 
to ensure that Riverside know about arrears and can put a plan in place.” 
Innovation 

The council feel that, compared to their usual commissions, the service is innovative.  

This relates to the way the service has been delivered and the funding and tendering 
approach taken. 
“It is basically Housing First for families and the success of it means that it is now a part 

of our homeless strategy.” 
Deadweight 

The council feel that customers would have to have secured private rented 
accommodation if the service had not been available.  However, this would have been 

difficult due to their own housing history and the shortage of private rented 
accommodation in the borough.  As a result, the likelihood was that customers would 

have experienced an extended stay in temporary accommodation. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4



 

 

“They would have spent much longer in temporary accommodation than is usual.  The 
cost would have been horrendous.  If they got a tenancy, they would struggle to sustain it 

and they would be re-presenting to Housing Options in due course.  The lack of the sort 
of support the service offers would mean even sustaining a social housing tenancy would 

be challenging.” 
Cost of repeat presentations is a concern but the Council’s adherence to trauma 
informed practices mean they are particularly worried about the impact on the family (and 

children in particular) in terms of their health, wellbeing and financial situation. 
The Future 

Sefton Council expect to include provision for rehousing homeless families in their 
homeless strategy in the future.  In the short term, this is covered by the contract 

extension for the Sefton Families Service. 
“It has been a really important pilot.  It has allowed us to test this approach and confirm 

that we want to carry on rehousing families in this way.” 
A potential stimulus for further activities in the short-term is the potential impact of the 
lifting of the eviction ban in June 2021. 

  

Page 54

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Fiscal Impact 

Introduction 

In this section we consider the fiscal impact and cost effectiveness of the service.  The 

intention is to illustrate the potential savings in public spending from the service’s 
approach.  However, the fact that the commissioners feel that the service is value for 

money and cost effective renders this section a largely academic exercise.  Furthermore, 
the commissioners acknowledge that the approach adopted by the service is 
considerably more effective than the usual method of dealing with homeless families.  As 

such, fiscal impact or social value is not necessarily the most important way of judging 
the impact of the service. 
Project Cost 

If all outcomes for the service are achieved for a family the payment from Sefton Council 

to Riverside would be £7,260 per family.  If service delivers the original target of 20 
families rehoused leading to sustaining a general needs tenancy for 12 months, the total 
cost to Sefton Council would be £145,200.  In fact, to help Sefton Council budget for the 

whole service over the two years and following good practice from other payment-by-
results projects, a cap on outcome payments of £150,000 was agreed. 
Potential Savings 

In 2019/2020 the cost of using temporary accommodation included 

 Lonsdale Road hostel - £12,872 

 B&B accommodation - £183,276 

 Total - £196,148 

151 households were housed in temporary accommodation during this period.  The 
number of families in was 62 (including 129 children).  The average number of nights in 
temporary accommodation was 16.  This is an average cost per night of £81. 

Given that Sefton Families Service customers are sustaining their licence / tenancy, a 
valid comparison is between the cost of the service and the current alternative to 

rehousing via the service.  The commissioners felt that customers not housed by the 
service were likely to find private rented accommodation but that factors such as their 
tenancy history and arrears may mean they spend some time in temporary 

accommodation.  The council also felt that the history of customers suggested that they 
would re-present as homeless in the near future. 

The scenario below estimates the cost of one homeless presentation.  We must stress 
that not all cost within the scenario would be incurred by Sefton Council.  The scenario is 
based on the cost of a complex eviction and subsequent homeless application.  The data 

is sourced from New Economy Manchester’s interpretation of a report by Shelter4.  The 
scenario includes  

 The on-going cost of providing temporary accommodation in the private rented 

sector whilst the homelessness application was progressing (average 2.3 weeks 

based on an average 16-night stay at a cost of £81 per night). 

 Costs following on from a successful homelessness application e.g. additional costs 

relating to extended stay in temporary accommodation and a new letting being 
made (see related costs in this section).   

                                                 
4
https://assets.ctfassets.net/6sxvmndnpn0s/7Eapmg2bWNS5YP66zTTtL8/882a3ed442f637ad5990b1c473d324ce/I

mmediate_costs_to_government_of_losing_a_home.pdf 

Page 55

Agenda Item 4

https://assets.ctfassets.net/6sxvmndnpn0s/7Eapmg2bWNS5YP66zTTtL8/882a3ed442f637ad5990b1c473d324ce/Immediate_costs_to_government_of_losing_a_home.pdf
https://assets.ctfassets.net/6sxvmndnpn0s/7Eapmg2bWNS5YP66zTTtL8/882a3ed442f637ad5990b1c473d324ce/Immediate_costs_to_government_of_losing_a_home.pdf


 

 

 Indirect costs that may accrue to the state in the future are not included, such as 
increased healthcare costs 

 Wider economic and social costs are excluded - e.g. economic costs to private 
companies, individuals and organisations, and social costs to individuals and 

society around personal well-being, social cohesion, etc. 
 

Direct costs of a complex eviction and homeless application 

Cost Unit 

Agency 
bearing the 

cost / making 
the fiscal 
saving 

Estimated 

cost/saving 
(£) 

Cost of writing off rent arrears Per incident RSL 1,900 

Administrative costs of eviction Per incident RSL 1,119 

Cost of re-letting property post-eviction Per incident RSL 2,787 

Cost of housing advice funded through the Legal 

Aid Agency 
Per session HM Treasury 174 

Average cost of administering a decision on a 
homelessness application 

Per application 
 

375 

Ongoing cost of temporary accommodation 
(private rented sector) whilst homelessness 

decision made 

16 nights DWP 568 

Cost of advice on housing (funded by the Legal 
Aid Agency) 

Per session HM Treasury 80 

Average cost of administering a decision on a 
homelessness application 

Per application   375 

Administration cost associated with new letting 

(following acceptance of homelessness 
application) 

Per incident RSL 477 

Process costs involved in concluding a local 
authority's statutory homelessness duty, following 

re-housing of the client 

Per incident   230 

Total   8,085 

 

This scenario suggests a cost of £8,085 for one eviction and homeless application.  This 
is £825 more than the total cost of rehousing a family via the Sefton Families Service.  If 

there were more than one incidence of homelessness during the two years (the period of 
the Sefton Families Service) then the saving would be much higher e.g. a saving of 

£8,910 on two re-presentations.  This scenario assumes some time spent in temporary 
accommodation.  In fact, many of the customers rehoused by Sefton Families Service 
did not spend time in temporary accommodation, this reduces the total cost to £7,517 

and the saving to £257.  However, some did and, given the complexity of their needs 
they may well have spent longer in temporary accommodation than the 16-day average 
we have used.  Also, we have not included additional costs related to the homeless 

episode from which customers were rehoused.  Without the option of rehousing, the time 
in temporary accommodation (and some of the other costs) could have been much 

higher. 
The scenario uses proxies instead of actual costs.  If this exercise was vital to 
considerations about the future of the service (or similar provision) the commissioners 

may well be able to identify actual costs. 
A secondary saving relates to Housing Benefits / Universal Credit.  The commissioners 

feel that customers not rehoused by Sefton Families Services would, eventually, find 

Page 56

Agenda Item 4



 

 

private rented accommodation.  Data from the Valuation Office Agency5  shows a mean 
private monthly rent in Sefton of £586 for a two bed and £694 for a three bed.  This 

compares to an average social housing rent in Sefton6 of £82 per week (£355 per 
calendar month) for a two bed and £93 per week (£403 pcm.).  This is a saving of £231 

(2 bed) and £291 (3 bed) per month or £5,544 and £6,984 over the life of the service.  
The savings may be lower because some customers are subject to the benefit cap.  
Indeed, a combination of limited budget and prejudicial tenancy history may lead to 

customers taking properties at the lower end of private rented spectrum.  Whilst they 
may reduce the saving it may also create the situation (inadequate, poorly managed 

properties) that leads to re-presenting to Housing Options.  
Wider Fiscal Impact / Cost Effectiveness 

In their evaluation of Housing First services in 20157 Pleace and Bretherton identified the 
limitations and possibilities when attempting to measure the savings or cost effectiveness 

of a project.  With regard to limitations, there are parallels with the Sefton Families 
Service: 

 Customers may well, if they choose, access a package of support, involving health, 

social services and charitable services.  This means the actual cost of supporting a 
customer can be higher 

 They also urge caution in using cost offsets. For example, a customer might 
experience (as a perpetrator or victim) antisocial behaviour.  Rehousing may 
reduce antisocial behaviour.  However, cost offsets are not realisable (i.e. they 

cannot actually be made).  Homeless families are a fraction of total activity for 
large-scale public services (such as the police) so reducing their contact with the 

criminal justice system does not free up time (or money) in a way that is realisable. 

Pleace and Bretherton suggest using lifetime costs.  As might be expected, this entails calculating 
the cost of homelessness over a lifetime (in their case rough sleepers).  Additional costs 

associated with a homeless family might include: 
 Greater reliance on benefits and limited tax contributions 

 Higher use of health, mental health and social services 
 Higher levels of anti-social behaviour 

 Extensive use of homelessness services (e.g. hostels, B&Bs, Housing Options and 

other support).  
These costs can be very high.  In this section we will calculate costs for the two-year life 
of the service not an actual lifetime.  The table below shows the aggregated outcomes of 

the risk analysis of Sefton Homeless Families customers.  We will use this data to 
calculate additional costs related to these customers. 

Area of Risk 

Number of 

Customers 

Accommodation Breakdown 20 

Financial 16 

Domestic Violence 12 

Vulnerability 10 

Mental Health 8 

Family Relationships 7 

Physical Health 3 

                                                 
5
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/privaterentalmarketsummarystatistic

sinengland  
6
 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/registered-provider-social-housing-stock-and-rents-in-england-2019-

to-2020  
7
 https://www.homeless.org.uk/facts/our-research/housing-first-in-england-evaluation-of-nine-services 

Page 57

Agenda Item 4

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/privaterentalmarketsummarystatisticsinengland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/privaterentalmarketsummarystatisticsinengland
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/registered-provider-social-housing-stock-and-rents-in-england-2019-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/registered-provider-social-housing-stock-and-rents-in-england-2019-to-2020
https://www.homeless.org.uk/facts/our-research/housing-first-in-england-evaluation-of-nine-services


 

 

Drugs 2 

Suicide 2 

Alcohol 1 

Offending 1 

Self-Neglect 1 

Base: 20 customers 

The table below shows an estimated cost savings related to rehousing homeless families 

over a two-year period.  This allows a comparison with the full cost of the service.  There 
is evidence that (if not rehoused) there would be higher usage of / contact with 

homelessness services and support services such as social services.  In contrast, 
customer and team interviews suggest that these reduce when intensive support is 
provided e.g. reduction of child safeguarding status or contact with social workers. 

The table is based on assumptions, proxies and scenarios relating to customer’s risk 
assessments and areas of support identified in customer and team interviews.  As such, 

all assumptions should be treated with caution.  However, the assumptions we have 
made have been conservative.  For instance, we have assumed that without rehousing 
customers would have re-presented as homeless just once in two years or that those 

fleeing domestic violence would have only experienced one further incident.  There were 
also two areas (physical health and self-care) where the data cannot be adequately 

represented by proxies. 
As with the section on potential savings above, detailed evidence gathering from the 
team and the commissioners would allow some comparisons based on actual cost.  

However, the exercise suggests that the service is cost effective and can, potentially, 
produce considerable cost savings.  More importantly, the service produces outcomes 
that are much more beneficial to the customer than most alternative approaches to 

dealing with homelessness. 
  

Page 58

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Cost Area Source 
Unit 
Cost 

Units 
Total 
Cost 

Assumption 

Accommodation Breakdown 

Cost of a complex eviction 
New Economy Manchester 
Unit Cost Database HO1.0 

£6,374 20 £127,480 
One less re-

presentation in two-
year period 

Homeless Application  
New Economy Manchester 

Unit Cost Database 
HO.3.0 

£1,711 20 £34,220 

Financial Support 

Housing Benefit savings (2 bed) 
Author’s calculation (see 

above) 
£5,592 11 £61,512 

Maintain social 
housing tenancy for 

two years 
Housing Benefit savings (3 bed) 

Author’s calculation (see 
above) 

£7,032 9 £63,288 

Domestic Violence 

Domestic violence - average cost 
per incident 

New Economy Manchester 
Unit Cost Database CR2.0 

£2,470 12 £29,640 
One less incident in 

two years 

Vulnerability 

Social Worker – cost per hour 
New Economy Manchester 

Unit Cost Database 
SS21.0 

£6,240 10 £62,400 
Reduce contact by 
one hour per week 

Troubled families programme (1 
hour per week) 

New Economy Manchester 
Unit Cost Database 

E&E11.0 
£1,914 10 £19,140 

Reduce contact one 
hour per week 

Mental Health 

Average cost of service provision 
for people suffering from mental 
health disorders, per person 

New Economy Manchester 
Unit Cost Database 

HE13.0 
£3,732 8 £29,856 

Intensive support 
reducing need for 

mental health support 

Family Relationships 
Children in Need - average total 
cost of case management 
processes 

New Economy Manchester 
Unit Cost Database SS5.0 

£5,456 7 £38,192 
Reduced level of child 

protection required 

Physical Health 

Improved general health and 

reduced use of hospitals and 
GPs 

Hospital outpatient visit 
H8.0 

GP visit HE21.0 
£219 3 £657 

Three less GP visits, 
one less hospital visit 

Drugs 
Drugs misuse - savings resulting 
from delivery of a structured, 
effective treatment programme 

New Economy Manchester 
Unit Cost Database HE2.0 

£7,228 2 £14,456 
Intensive support 
reducing need for 

drug treatment  

Suicide 
Average cost of service provision 
for adults suffering from 
depression and/or anxiety 
disorders 

New Economy Manchester 
Unit Cost Database 

HE11.0 
£1,660 2 £3,320 

Intensive support 
reducing need for 

mental health support 

Alcohol 
Alcohol misuse - estimated 
annual cost to the NHS of alcohol 
dependency, per year per 
dependent drinker 

New Economy Manchester 
Unit Cost Database HE1.0 

£1,800 1 £1,800 

Intensive support 
reducing need for 
alcohol support 

Offending 
Cost of antisocial behaviour 
(average of 4 incidents) 

New Economy Manchester 
Unit Cost Database CR.1.0 

£1,928 1 £1,928 
Reduced antisocial 

behaviour 

Self-Neglect 

No measure n/a £0 1 £0  

Total £487,889 

Ratio of costs of provision to wider costs to public (service cost £145,200)  1:3.36 

 

The table above suggests that the cost over two years of twenty homeless families is 
£487,889 or £24,394 per family.  The cost of provision is £145,200 or £7,260 per person.  
This gives a return of £3.36 for every £1 spent. 

  

Page 59

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Appendix 

Customer Satisfaction 

Before Referral 

1. Before the project, when did you last have a permanent address? 

 
2. Do you mind telling me why you were homeless? 

 
3. Where were you before you were rehoused by Sefton Families Service? 

 
4. Did you spend time in hostels, B&Bs or other emergency accommodation? 

 

5. How long?  What was that like? 

 
6. How were you referred to Sefton Families Service? 

 
Referral 

7. How satisfied were you with the referral process (that is the way you were 

introduced to the Sefton Families Service)? 

 

Very satisfied to Not very satisfied (1-5 scale) 
8. How satisfied were you with the time the referral process took?  Was it a smooth 

process? 

 
Very satisfied to Not very satisfied (1-5 scale) 

9. Was it a smooth process? 

Yes/No 
 

10. Do you have any comments or observations about the referral process? 

 
Support 

11. How happy are you with the level of contact you have / had with your support 

worker? 

 
Very happy to Not very happy (1-5 scale) 

12. How was the support delivered (e.g. phone, face to face, etc)? 

 

13. Were you happy with this? 

Very happy to Not very happy (1-5 scale) 
14. How happy are you with the intensive support you received from the Specialist 

Support Worker? 

Very happy to Not very happy (1-5 scale) 
15. How would you describe the way the Specialist Support worker worked with you 

(qualities and attributes)? 

 
16. What areas are you getting support with? 

 Yes No 

General health and wellbeing   

Managing time and appointments   

Page 60

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Substance/alcohol misuse   

Maintaining accommodation   

Applying for permanent housing   

Education, training and employment    

Developing life skills   

Budgeting and managing debts   

Tackling offending behaviour   

Applying for welfare benefits   

Accessing care & counselling services   

Helping to organise utilities   

Developing links with family, friends and the 

community 

  

Other, please specify   

 
17. Is there any support you need that you don’t get? 

 
Yes/No 

 
18. What support do you need? 

The Team 

 
19. Which other members of the team did you have contact with (e.g. Specialist 

Support Worker, Housing Officer, other)? 

 
Very happy to Not very happy (1-5 scale) 

20. What support did you receive? 

 

21. Was this support effective? 

 
Yes/No 

22. How would you describe the way the team member worked with you (qualities and 

attributes)? 

 
External Services 

 
23. Did your support worker refer you to other services? 

Yes/No 

24. If yes, which services were they? 

 

25. What help do you receive from external services 
 Yes No 

Psychiatric and community mental health services.    

Medical services.    

Personal care services.    

Drug and alcohol services.    

Education, training and employment related services.    

Community participation events and services.    

Support with gender-based violence/domestic violence issues.    

Additional practical and emotional support, as appropriate.    

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 4



 

 

26. In general, how happy are you with the support you receive from external services? 

Very happy to Not very happy (1-5 scale) 
27. If you are unhappy or very unhappy, why is that? 

 

28. Do you have any other comments or observations about the support you receive? 

 

  

Page 62

Agenda Item 4



 

 

29. Have any of the following improved since you were rehoused? 

 Yes No 

Your health   

Your feeling of wellbeing   

Your mental health   

Your financial situation   

Your independence / resilience   

How you use your time   

Other, please specify    
 

30. Did you want to be near family when you were rehoused? 

Yes/No 

31. Did this happen? 

Yes/No 

32. Why did you need to be near family? 

 
Current Accommodation 

33. How satisfied are you with your new accommodation? 

Very happy to Not very happy (1-5 scale) 

34. How easily did you settle in? 

 
35. Did you get help furnishing the property? 

 
36. If yes, was this OK? 

Yes/No 

37. How happy are you in your new accommodation? 

Very happy to Not very happy (1-5 scale) 

38. What is good or bad about their current accommodation? (Tick all applicable) 

 Good Bad 

Location   

Other people who live here   

Support offered   

Level of independence   

The routine   

Other, please specify    

 
39. Do you have any other comments or observations about your accommodation? 

 
Impact 

 
40. What impact has the service had on your life? 

 
41. Has it been a positive experience? 

Yes/No 

42. If not, why not? 

 
The Future 

43. Are you happy to stay in your accommodation? 

Yes/No 

Page 63

Agenda Item 4



 

 

44. If no, where would you like to go? 

 
45. Why do want to move somewhere else? 

 
Thank you very much for helping us with this survey. 
Staff Interviews Topic Guide 

General 

 

1. What does the project do? 
 

2. What is your role? 
 

3. How is the project progressing? 
 
Customers 

 

4. How many customers so far? 
 

5. What is process for dealing with a customer? 

a. What are the experiences of customers? 

b. How are customers referred? 

c. How are their needs assessed? 

d. What support do they receive? 

e. Any unforeseen issues or challenges with customers?  Anybody difficult to deal with? 
 

6. Has the project met its stated aims? 
a. Sustain tenancies 

b. Maximise independence 

c. Reduce social isolation  

d. Improve health and wellbeing 

 

7. What changes in customer’s lives have you observed? 

a. Family cohesion / stability 

b. Health / mental health 

c. Mental health 

d. Financial situation 

e. Wellbeing 

f. Wellbeing of children 

g. Wider family relationships 

h. Substance misuse 

i. Crime / disorder 

 
Outcomes 
 

8. What are the short-term outcomes? 
 

9. What do you expect the long-term outcomes to be? 
 

10. What are the outcomes for the customer/individual (list to be developed)? 

 
11. Any soft outcomes – resilience, confidence, self-care, self-esteem? 

 

Page 64

Agenda Item 4



 

 

12. Is it possible to measure what change the project has effected or contributed to? 
 

13. Are there any differences with delivering a PBR project? 
 

14. Does the project provide value for money? 
 

15. Are there any ways the community in general benefitted from the project? 
 
The Team 

 

16. Who are the team members? 
 

17. What are their roles? 
 

18. How do you work with them? 
 

19. Are their role effective? 
 

20. Do you feel that there are sufficient staff / resource to deliver the project?  Do you get the 

support you need to deliver the project / carry out your role? 

 
Property 
 

21. Is the supply of property adequate?  Are there any issues? 
 

22. Is being near last address / social networks effective? 

 
23. Is dispersed provision effective / better? 

 
24. How has the transition to general needs worked? 

 
Stakeholders 
 

25. Who are the key stakeholders?  What are their roles?  How do you work with them? 
 

26. Are the commissioners happy with the project?  Does it meet the stated objectives in their 

Homelessness Strategy (e.g. to provide suitable accommodation)? 
 

27. Has the project met stated aim in relation to stakeholders? 
a. DWP, as a result of reduced benefits claims by promoting education, training and 

employment. 

b. NHS, as families become healthier and improve social networks within the 

community.  

 
Longer Term 

 

28. What, if any, have been the challenges of delivering the project? 
 
29. Projects usually generate learning points; what do you think they are? 
 

30. Deadweight - What would have happened (to the customers and the commissioner) if the 

project hadn’t been available?  Who else provides something like this? 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 4



 

 

31. What is new and innovative about the project e.g. sharing best practice, changes in the 

way that the client group are dealt with? 
 

32. What is the future of the project e.g. legacy / continuation planning, what will replace it, can 

it be mainstreamed? 

 
Stakeholder Questions- Sefton 

You and Your Organisation’s Role 

 

1. What does your service do? 
 

2. What is your role? 
 

3. Can you describe your involvement with the Sefton Families Service project? 

a. Refer customers 

b. Provide funding 

c. Offer support or complementary services 
 

4. What does your organisation contribute to the activity (and how much)? 

 
5. Do you interact with other Sefton Families Service stakeholders?  In what way? 

 
6. Is there a support / referral network or a one-to-one relationship? 

 

7. Did stakeholders / partners influence the development of Sefton Families Service? 
 

8. How do stakeholders / partners view the service? 
 
Demand 

 
9. Do you feel there was a need for Homeless Families Service of this type in Sefton? 

 
10. If yes, why?  What needs is it meeting and what issues is it addressing? 

 

11. If no, why? 
 

12. Are there specific issues or challenges in Sefton that make this service necessary? 
 

Project Performance 

 
13. How do you think the project progressing? 

 
14. Do you think that the project meeting its stated aims? 

a. Sustaining tenancies 

b. Maximising independence 

c. Reducing social isolation 

d. Improving health and wellbeing  

 
Customers 

 

15. Is the project targeting the right people? 
 

16. How are customers identified and assessed (is your organisation involved)? 

Page 66

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 
Impact 

 

17. What has been the impact on existing services? (good and bad)? 
 

18. What has been the impact on the community? 
 

19. In what way are services made more accessible and responsive to customer needs? 
 

20. Has the project reduced (or does it have the potential to reduce) failure demand 

(duplication and inefficient use of services)? 
 
Outcomes 

 

21. What do you expect the long-term outcomes to be? 
 

22. Is it possible to measure what change the project has created? 
 

23. Is it possible to measure what change the project has effected or contributed to? 
 

24. Were all the changes expected or was there anything that you didn’t expect that changed? 

Have there been any unintended outcomes of the project? 
 

25. Does the project provide value for money compared to other forms of provision for rough 

sleepers? 

 

26. Are there any ways the community in general benefitted from the project? 
 

27. Has the project impact on other agencies (the local authority, NHS, police, criminal justice 

system, businesses and residents? 
 

28. Are you aware of any of the following outcomes (now or expected)? 

a. Family cohesion / stability 

b. Health / mental health 

c. Mental health 

d. Financial situation 

e. Wellbeing 

f. Wellbeing of children 

g. Wider family relationships 

h. Substance misuse 

i. Crime / disorder 
 

29. Were all the changes / experiences created by the project positive? 
 

30. What were the negative changes? 
 
The Team 

 

31. Which members of the team do you work with? 
 

32. Are you happy are with your interactions with the team? 
 

33. Do you feel that there are sufficient staff / resource to deliver the project? 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Longer Term 

 

34. Deadweight - What would do you think have happened (to the customers and the 

commissioner) if the project hadn’t been available? 
 

35. Who else provides something like this?  Would you have found something else? 
 

36. What is new and innovative about the project e.g. sharing best practice, changes in the 

way that the client group are dealt with? 
 

37. Which other ways might you/your organisation achieve the same changes? 

 
38. Where would customers go if the project didn’t exist? 

 
39. If families were not to receive that intervention from the project, what is likely to happen to 

those families? 
 

40. Without the project, which stakeholders would be affected and how? 
 

41. Were all the changes / experiences positive? 
 

42. What were the negative changes? 
 

43. Has the project reduced failure demand (duplication and inefficient use of services)? 
 

44. What is new and innovative about the project? 
a. How effectively has learning and best practice is shared within the wider local 

system? 

b. Has the project led to changes in the way that the client group are dealt with? 

c. Has the project led to changes in the way that services are commissioned? 

d. Are services on their way to being better integrated, holistic, user-driven, 
personalised, flexible, and psychologically informed? 

 

45. What is the future of the project? 

a. Legacy / continuation planning? 

b. What will replace it? 

c. Is anything expendable? 

d. Can it be mainstreamed / secure future funding? 

e. What changes could / should be made? 

 

 
 

 

Page 68

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee      
(Regeneration and 

Skills) 
 

Date of Meeting: 28 June 2022 

Subject: Work Programme 2022/23, Scrutiny Review Topics and Key 

Decision Forward Plan 
 

Report of: Chief Legal and 

Democratic Officer 
 

Wards Affected: All 

Cabinet Portfolio: Communities and Housing; 
Health and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element) 

Locality Services; 
Planning and Building Control; and 

Regeneration and Skills 
Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No 

Exempt / 

Confidential 
Report: 

No 

 
Summary: 

 

To seek the views of the Committee on the draft Work Programme for 2022/23; to 

identify potential topics for scrutiny reviews to be undertaken by a Working Group(s) 
appointed by the Committee; to identify any items for pre-scrutiny scrutiny by the 
Committee from the Key Decision Forward Plan; and to update Members on the 

progress of items that have previously been considered by the Committee 
 

Recommendation: That:  

 
(1)  

 

the Work Programme for 2022/23, as set out in Appendix 1 to the report, be 

considered, along with any additional items to be included and thereon be agreed; 
 

(2) consideration be given to the selection of a topic for a Working Group review; and 
appoint at least 3 Members of the Committee to serve on such Working Group;  
 

(3) in respect of (2) above further consideration be given to the establishment of a 
Working Group to review the topic of dog fouling in public places and methods to 

combat such an anti-social practice as detailed in paragraphs 2.2 to 2.4 of the 
report; 
 

(4) the Committee considers items for pre-scrutiny from the Key Decision Forward 
Plan as set out in Appendix 3 to the report, which fall under the remit of the 

Committee and any agreed items be included in the work programme referred to in 
(1) above; and 
 

(5) the update on the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee be noted.  

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 

 

To determine the Work Programme of items to be considered during the Municipal Year 
2022/23 and identify scrutiny review topics which would demonstrate that the work of the 

Overview and Scrutiny ‘adds value’ to the Council. 
 
The pre-scrutiny process assists Cabinet Members to make effective decisions by 

examining issues before making formal decisions.  
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 

 
No alternative options have been considered as the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

needs to approve its Work Programme and identify scrutiny review topics. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. Any financial 

implications arising from the consideration of a key decision or relating to a 
recommendation arising from a Working Group review will be reported to Members at the 

appropriate time. 
 
(A) Revenue Costs – see above 

 
(B) Capital Costs – see above 

 
Implications of the Proposals: 

 
Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): None 

 

Legal Implications: None 
 

Equality Implications: There are no equality implications.  

Climate Emergency Implications: 

 

The recommendations within this report will  

Have a positive impact  No 

Have a neutral impact Yes 

Have a negative impact No 

The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 

report authors 

Yes 

 
There are no direct climate emergency implications arising from this report. Any climate 

emergency implications arising from the consideration of reports referred to in the Work 
Programme will be contained in such reports when they are presented to Members at 

the appropriate time. 
 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:  

 

Protect the most vulnerable: None directly applicable to this report.  

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: None directly applicable to this report. 

Commission, broker and provide core services: None directly applicable to this report 

Page 70

Agenda Item 5



 

 

but the Committee would be made aware of such issues via the receipt of reports, as 
referenced in the Work Programme, relating to the review of Winter Service and 
Operational Plan; the Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority – Service Delivery 

Plan 2020/21; the Update on Operational Activities delivered via Locality Services; and 
Green Sefton 2020/21 Annual Report, Service Vision 2030, and Service Plan 2020/21. 

Place – leadership and influencer: None directly applicable to this report. 

Drivers of change and reform: None directly applicable to this report but reports would 

be submitted to the Committee detailing how the Council is leading on beneficial 
changes to be made with reference to United Utilities charging policies and new houses 

being sold as leasehold. 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: None directly applicable to this report but the 
Committee would be made aware of such issues via the receipt of a report in the Work 
Programme relating to the Sefton Economic Strategy for Growth 

Greater income for social investment: None directly applicable to this report.  

Cleaner Greener: None directly applicable to this report but the Committee would be 
made aware of such issues via the receipt of reports, as referenced in the Work 
Programme, relating to the review of Winter Service and Operational Plan; the 

Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority – Service Delivery Plan 2020/21; the Update 
on Operational Activities delivered via Locality Services; Green Sefton 2020/21 Annual 

Report, Service Vision 2030, and Service Plan 2020/21. 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 

 
(A) Internal Consultations 

 

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD5008/22) and the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6808/22) have been consulted and 
have no comments to make. Any specific financial and legal implications associated with 

any subsequent reports arising from the report will be included in those reports as 
appropriate.  

 
Executive Director Place 
Head of Highways and Public Protection 

Head of Economic Growth and Housing 
Head off In-House Operational Services 

Head of Communities 
Head of Commercial Development 
 
(B) External Consultations  

 

Not applicable 
  
Implementation Date for the Decision 

 
Immediately following the Committee meeting. 

 
Contact Officer: Paul Fraser 

Telephone Number: 0151 934 2068 

Email Address: Paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk


 

 

Appendices: 

 

The following appendices are attached to this report:  

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme for 2021/2022 

 Criteria Checklist for Selecting Topics for Review  

 Latest Key Decision Forward Plan items relating to this Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee  
 
Background Papers: 

 

There are no background papers available for inspection. 

 
Introduction/Background 
 

1. WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

1.1 The proposed Work Programme of items to be submitted to the Committee for 
consideration during the Municipal Year 2022/23 is set out in Appendix 1 to the 

report. The programme has been produced in liaison with the appropriate Heads 

of Service, whose roles fall under the remit of the Committee. 
 

1.2 The Work Programme has been produced based on items included in last year’s 
Programme.  
 

1.4 Members are requested to consider whether there are any other items that they 
wish the Committee to consider, that fall within the terms of reference of the 

Committee. The Work Programme will be submitted to each meeting of the 
Committee during 2022/23 and updated, as appropriate. 
 

2. Working Group Reviews 
 

2.1 It is usual practise for the Committee to appoint a Working Group(s) to undertake 
a scrutiny review of services during the Municipal Year. 
 

2.2 Potential to Establish a Working Group to Review the Topic of Dog Fouling 
in Public Places and Methods to Combat it 

 

2.3 The Committee, at its meeting held on 8 March 2022 (Minute No. 38) considered 
the report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection on the potential to 

establish a Working Group to review the topic of dog fouling in public places and 
methods to combat such an anti-social practice.  

  
The report stated that failure to pick up dog fouling and the inappropriate disposal 
of dog ‘fouling bags’ (littering) by irresponsible dog walkers were  legitimate 

concerns for Members, residents and visitors to the Borough as such unpleasant 
and anti-social acts could significantly impact upon the use, appearance, and 

enjoyment of public spaces; that the recent consultation regarding 
implementation of a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for dog Control, 
including dog fouling, saw a 95.95% positive response to the proposal to allow 

Fixed Penalty Notices to be issued across the Borough for dog walkers who 
failed to pick up dog fouling; and detailed the several ways how the Council 

Page 72

Agenda Item 5



 

 

currently tackled this issue.   
  

The report also detailed the tools available to ensure compliance and change to 
this anti-social behaviour and that they were often categorised as Education, 

Engineering and Enforcement (the three E’s); that there was a potential to review 
the topic of dog fouling centred on these 3 E’s; that a working group could 
consider:  

  
 Current Council policies and practices in dealing with dog fouling and 

disposal of dog ‘fouling bags’  
 Areas of good practise within the Council  
 Good practise within other local authorities or similar organisations  
 Areas for improvement within the Council’s policies and practice  

  

However, there was a danger that any new working group to review the impact of 
dog fouling in public places and the methods to combat this may see significant 
duplication in the matters already considered by the previous, recently completed 

Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity Working Group.   
  

The report concluded by suggesting two options for consideration, namely:  

  
(1)  that the Committee recognises the negative impact of dog fouling in 

public places but agrees not to establish a Working Group to consider 
this issue at this time, in recognition of the potential duplication of 

work and themes only recently covered by the Effectiveness of the 
Council’s Enforcement Activity Working Group; or   
  

(2)  that the Committee notes the work and recommendations already 
made by the Committee’s Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement 

Activity Working Group, and agrees to establish a Working Group to 
review the topic of dog fouling in public places and methods to 
combat such anti-social practice that seeks to explore relevant issues 

not already fully explored by the earlier Working Group.  
   

2.4 The Committee resolved (Minute No. 38) that further consideration be given to 
the establishment of a Working Group to review the topic of dog fouling in public 
places and methods to combat such an anti-social practice at the first meeting of 

the Committee in the 2022/23 Municipal Year.      
 

2.5 For the information of Members, a criteria checklist for selecting and rejecting 
potential topics to review is attached at Appendix 2. This is used to assist the 

Committee in selecting topics and appointing Working Group(s) for the Municipal 

Year. 
  

3. PRE-SCRUTINY OF ITEMS IN THE KEY DECISION FORWARD PLAN 
 

3.1 Members may request to pre-scrutinise items from the Key Decision Forward 

Plan which fall under the remit (terms of reference) of this Committee. The 
Forward Plan which is updated each month, sets out the list of items to be 

submitted to the Cabinet for consideration during the next four-month period. 
 

3.2 The pre-scrutiny process assists the Cabinet Members to make effective 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



 

 

decisions by examining issues beforehand and making recommendations prior to 
a determination being made. 

 
3.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board has requested that only those 

key decisions that fall under the remit of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
should be included on the agenda for consideration. 
 

3.4 The latest Forward Plan published on 28 May 2021 is attached at Appendix 3 for 

this purpose. For ease of identification, items listed on the Forward Plan for the 

first time appear as shaded.  
 

3.5 Should Members require further information in relation to any item on the Key 

Decision Forward Plan, would they please contact the relevant Officer named 
against the item in the Plan, prior to the Meeting. 

 
3.6 The Committee is invited to consider items for pre-scrutiny from the Key Decision 

Forward Plan as set out in Appendix 3 to the report, which fall under the remit of 

the Committee and any agreed items be included in the Work Programme 
referred to in (1) above. 
 

4. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

4.1 As Members will be aware, the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and 

the four Overview and Scrutiny Committees considered a report on the guidance 
produced by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
relating to Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities following on 

from the Communities and Local Government Select Committee’s inquiry into 
Overview and Scrutiny. This Committee considered the matter at its meeting held 

on 22 October 2019 (Minute No. 20).  
   

4.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and the four Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees all agreed the recommendations contained in the report, 
one of which being that updates on Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (LCRCAO&S) be included in the Work 
Programme report considered at each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meeting. 
  

4.3 In accordance with the above decision, information on the LCRCAO&S is set out 

below. 
 

4.4 Role 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee was established by the Combined 

Authority in May 2017 in accordance with the Combined Authorities Order 2017.  
 
The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to: 

 

 Scrutinise the decision and actions taken by the Combined Authority or 

the Metro Mayor; 

 Provide a ‘critical friend to policy and strategy development; 

Page 74

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 Undertake scrutiny reviews into areas of strategic importance for the 
people of the Liverpool City Region; and 

 Monitor the delivery of the Combined Authority’s strategic plan. 
 

4.5 Membership 
 

The Committee is made up of 3 elected Members from each of the constituent 
Local Authorities of the LCR Combined Authority, along with one elected Member 
from both the Liverpool City Region Liberal Democrat Group and the Liverpool 

City Region Conservative Group.  
 

Sefton’s appointed Members are Councillors Howard, Hansen and Waterfield 
(Scrutiny Link). 
 

Representatives of the Liberal Democrat Group and Conservative group on the 
Committee will be reported to Members at the next meeting. 

 
4.6 Chair 

 

The Chair of the LCRCAO&S cannot be a Member of the majority group. The 
Chair will be appointed at the first meeting of the Committee on 13 July 2022.  

  
4.7 Quoracy Issues 

 

The quorum for meetings of the LCRCAO&S is 14, two-thirds of the total number 
of members, 20. This high threshold is not set by the Combined Authority but is 

set out in legislation. This has on occasion caused meetings to be inquorate. 
  

4.8 Meetings 

 

Information on all meetings and membership of the LCRCAO&S can be obtained 

using the following link 
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=365&Year=0 
 

Latest Meeting - 12 April 2022   

 

The latest meeting of the LCRCAO&S was held on 12 April 2022. 
 
Matters considered at the meeting related to: 

 

 Metro Mayor S Rotheram's Update 

 Apprenticeship Task and Finish Group - Final Report 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Self-Assessment 

 
4.9 The next meeting of the LCRCAO&S will be held on 13 July 2022. Matters 

discussed at this meeting will be reported to Members at the next meeting of the 

Committee.  
 

4.10
  

The Committee is requested to note the update on the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=365&Year=0


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND SKILLS) 
WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 
Date of Meeting 28 JUNE 2022 20 SEPTEMBER 2022 8 NOVEMBER 2022 17 JANUARY 2023 7 MARCH 2023 

Cabinet Member Update Report  
Paul Fraser 

x x x x x 

Work Programme Update  
Paul Fraser 

x x x x x 

Service Operational Reports: 
 

     

Flood & Coastal Risk – Annual Report  
Michelle Williams 

  X   

Review of Winter Service and 
Operational Plan  
Michelle Williams 

  X   

Merseyside Recycling and Waste 
Authority – Service Delivery Plan 
2020/21  
Michelle Williams (Liaising with 
MRWA) 

   X  

Sefton Economic Strategy for Growth   
Stuart Barnes 

   X  

Update on the progression of the 
Liverpool City Region Digital Inclusion 
Strategy  
Stuart Barnes 

   X  

Update on Operational Activities 
delivered via Locality Services  
Michelle Williams 

   X  

Leasehold House Sales   
Stuart Barnes 

    X 

Green Sefton 2019/20 Annual Report, 
Service Vision 2030, and Service 
Plan 2020/21  
Michelle Williams 

  X   

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 5



APPENDIX 1 

 

Riverside Dispersed Accommodation 
Pilot Stuart Barnes/Graham Parry 

X     

Domestic Abuse Report Simon 
Burnett/Janette Maxwell  

 X    

Southport Market Update Stephen 
Watson/Stuart Barnes/Mark Catherall  

X     

Scrutiny Review Progress Reports:      

Digital Inclusion Working Group 
Update on Recommendations  
Paul Fraser  

  X   

Effectiveness of the Council’s 
Enforcement Activity Final Report – 
Update on Recommendations  
Paul Fraser 

 X    

Housing Support Services to 
Vulnerable People Final Report - 
Update on Recommendations 
Paul Fraser 

 X    

 

P
age 78

A
genda Item

 5



APPENDIX 2 
 

 
 

 
CRITERIA CHECKLIST FOR SELECTING TOPICS FOR REVIEW 

 

Criteria for Selecting Items 
 Issue identified by members as key issue for public (through member 

surgeries, other contact with constituents or volume of complaints) 

 Poor performing service (evidence from performance 
indicators/benchmarking) 

 Service ranked as important by the community (e.g. through market 
surveys/citizens panels) 

 High level of user/general public dissatisfaction with service (e.g. through 
market surveys/citizens panels/complaints) 

 Public interest issue covered in local media 

 High level of budgetary commitment to the service/policy area (as 
percentage of total expenditure) 

 Pattern of budgetary overspends 

 Council corporate priority area 

 Central government priority area 

 Issues raised by External Audit Management Letter/External audit reports 

 New government guidance or legislation 

 Reports or new evidence provided by external organisations on key issue 

 Others 

 
 
 

CRITERIA FOR REJECTION 

 

Potential Criteria for Rejecting Items 
 Issue being examined by the Cabinet 

 Issue being examined by an Officer Group : changes imminent  

 Issue being examined by another internal body 

 Issue will be addressed as part of a Service Review within the next year  

 New legislation or guidance expected within the next year 

 Other reasons specific to the particular issues. 

 
 
 

 
  

Page 79

Agenda Item 5



APPENDIX 2 
 

SCRUTINY CHECKLIST 
DO'S AND DON'TS 

 

DO 
 Remember that Scrutiny 

 Is about learning and being a "critical friend"; it should be a positive 

process 

 Is not opposition 

 Remember that Scrutiny should result in improved value, enhanced 

performance or greater public satisfaction 

 Take an overview and keep an eye on the wider picture 

 Check performance against local standards and targets and national 
standards, and compare results with other authorities  

 Benchmark performance against local and national performance 
indicators, using the results to ask more informed questions  

 Use Working Groups to get underneath performance information 

 Take account of local needs, priorities and policies 

 Be persistent and inquisitive 

 Ask effective questions - be constructive not judgmental 

 Be open-minded and self aware - encourage openness and self criticism in 
services 

 Listen to users and the public, seek the voices that are often not heard, 

seek the views of others - and balance all of these 

 Praise good practice and best value - and seek to spread this throughout 
the authority 

 Provide feedback to those who have been involved in the review and to 

stakeholders 

 Anticipate difficulties in Members challenging colleagues from their own 
party  

 Take time to review your own performance 

 

 DON'T 
 Witch-hunt or use performance review as punishment 

 Be party political/partisan 

 Blame valid risk taking or stifle initiative or creativity 

 Treat scrutiny as an add-on 

 Get bogged down in detail 

 Be frightened of asking basic questions 

 Undertake too many issues in insufficient depth 

 Start without a clear brief and remit 

 Underestimate the task 

 Lose track of the main purpose of scrutiny 

 Lack sensitivity to other stakeholders 

 Succumb to organisational inertia 

 Duck facing failure - learn from it and support change and development 

 Be driven by data or be paralysed by analysis - keep strategic overview, 
and expect officers to provide high level information and analysis to help. 

Page 80

Agenda Item 5



APPENDIX 2 
 

 
 

KEY QUESTIONS 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees should keep in mind some of the 

fundamental questions:- 
 

Are we doing what users/non users/local residents want?  

Are users' needs central to the service? 

Why are we doing this? 

What are we trying to achieve? 

How well are we doing? 

How do we compare with others? 

Are we delivering value for money? 

How do we know? 

What can we improve? 

 
 
INVESTIGATIONS:- 

 

To what extent are service users' expectations and needs being met? 

To what extent is the service achieving what the policy intended? 

To what extent is the service meeting any statutory obligations or national 
standards and targets? 

Are there any unexpected results/side effects of the policy? 

Is the performance improving, steady or deteriorating? 

Is the service able to be honest and open about its current performance and 
the reasons behind it? 

Are areas of achievement and weakness fairly and accurately identified? 

How has performance been assessed?  What is the evidence? 

How does performance compare with that of others?  Are there learning 

points from others' experiences? 

Is the service capable of meeting planned targets/standards?  What change to 
capability is needed. 

Are local performance indicators relevant, helpful, meaningful to Members, 

staff and service users? 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 

 

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL  

FORWARD PLAN 
 

FOR THE FOUR MONTH PERIOD 1 JULY 2022 - 31 OCTOBER 2022 

 
This Forward Plan sets out the details of the key decisions which the Cabinet, 

individual Cabinet Members or Officers expect to take during the next four month 
period.  The Plan is rolled forward every month and is available to the public at least 
28 days before the beginning of each month. 

 
A Key Decision is defined in the Council's Constitution as: 

 
1. any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and Capital 
Programme approved by the Council and which requires a gross budget 

expenditure, saving or virement of more than £100,000 or more than 2% of a 
Departmental budget, whichever is the greater; 

 
2. any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact on a 
significant number of people living or working in two or more Wards 

 
Anyone wishing to make representations about any of the matters listed below may 

do so by contacting the relevant officer listed against each Key Decision, within the 
time period indicated. 
 

Under the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in the Council's 
Constitution, a Key Decision may not be taken, unless: 

 

 it is published in the Forward Plan; 

 5 clear days have lapsed since the publication of the Forward Plan; and 

 if the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, 5 clear days notice of 
the meeting has been given. 

 
The law and the Council's Constitution provide for urgent key decisions to be made, 

even though they have not been included in the Forward Plan in accordance with 
Rule 26 (General Exception) and Rule 28 (Special Urgency) of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules. 

 
Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the Town Hall, Oriel Road, 

Bootle L20 7AE or accessed from the Council's website: www.sefton.gov.uk  
 

 Council Constitution 

 Forward Plan 

 Reports on the Key Decisions to be taken 

 Other documents relating to the proposed decision may be submitted to the 
decision making meeting and these too will be made available by the contact 

officer named in the Plan 

 The minutes for each Key Decision, which will normally be published within 5 

working days after having been made 
 

Page 83

Agenda Item 5

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/


APPENDIX 3 

 

Some reports to be considered by the Cabinet/Council may contain exempt 
information and will not be made available to the public. The specific reasons 

(Paragraph No(s)) why such reports are exempt are detailed in the Plan and the 
Paragraph No(s) and descriptions are set out below:- 

 
1. Information relating to any individual 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the   authority holding that information) 

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or        negotiations in connection with any labour relations matter  
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office 

holders under, the Authority 
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 

maintained in legal proceedings 
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes a) to give under any 
enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed   on a 

person; or b) to make an order or direction under any enactment 
7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 

prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 
8. Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information by virtue of 
that paragraph if it is required to be registered under— 

 (a) the Companies Act 1985; 
 (b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 

 (c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
 (d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
 (e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 

 (f) the Charities Act 1993. 
9.Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for 

which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to 
regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 
10. Information which— 

 (a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
 (b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above,is 

exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances  of the case, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Cabinet and Council 

which are held at the Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle or the Town Hall, Lord Street, 
Southport.  The dates and times of the meetings are published on 
www.sefton.gov.uk or you may contact the Democratic Services Section on 

telephone number 0151 934 2068. 
 

NOTE:   
For ease of identification, items listed within the document for the first time will 
appear shaded. 

 
Dwayne Johnson 

Chief Executive 

Page 84

Agenda Item 5

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/


APPENDIX 3 

 

FORWARD PLAN INDEX OF ITEMS 
 

Item Heading Officer Contact 

Bootle Regeneration Strategy Heather Jago heather.jago@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 

0151 934 4619 

Emergency Temporary 
Accommodation Project 

Allan Glennon allan.glennon@sefton.gov.uk 

Housing Strategy 2022 -2027 Alistair Malpas alistair.malpas@sefton.gov.uk 

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 5



APPENDIX 3 

 

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

FORWARD PLAN 

 

Details of Decision to be taken Bootle Regeneration Strategy   

Update and review Bootle Regeneration Strategy 

(Strand transformation related). 

Decision Maker Cabinet 

Decision Expected  28 Jul 2022  

Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 
23/06/2022 to 28/07/2022.  Reason: Further work is 

required to inform how the strategy is to be 
approached and this is to be informed in part by the 
LUF bid evidence base 

 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 

Impact 

Yes 

Exempt Report Open 

Wards Affected Derby; Linacre 

Scrutiny Committee Area  Regeneration and Skills 

Persons/Organisations to be 

Consulted  

Members, Ward Councillors 

Method(s) of Consultation  Via briefings and meetings (e.g. Members 
Reference Group). 

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-

maker 

Bootle Regeneration Strategy 

Contact Officer(s)  details 
 

Heather Jago heather.jago@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4619 

 

Page 86

Agenda Item 5



APPENDIX 3 

 

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

FORWARD PLAN 

 

Details of Decision to be taken Emergency Temporary Accommodation Project   

To seek approval of the Emergency Temporary 

Accommodation Project business case. 

Decision Maker Cabinet 

Decision Expected  28 Jul 2022  

Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 
26/05/2022 to 28/07/2022.  Reason: Work is 

ongoing on the Business Case 
 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 

Impact 

Yes 

Exempt Report Open 

Wards Affected All Wards 

Scrutiny Committee Area  Regeneration and Skills 

Persons/Organisations to be 

Consulted  

Internal Colleagues 

Method(s) of Consultation  Emails; meetings 

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker 

Emergency Temporary Accommodation Project 

Contact Officer(s)  details 
 

Allan Glennon allan.glennon@sefton.gov.uk 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 5



APPENDIX 3 

 

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

FORWARD PLAN 

 

Details of Decision to be taken Housing Strategy 2022 -2027   

Seek approval for refreshed Housing Strategy for 

Sefton 

Decision Maker Cabinet 

Decision Expected  1 Sep 2022  

Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 
28/07/2022 to 01/09/2022.  Reason: to enable further 

consultations on the Strategy, and their evaluation, to 
be undertaken 
 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact 

Yes 

Exempt Report Open 

Wards Affected All Wards 

Scrutiny Committee Area  Regeneration and Skills 

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted  

Housing Strategy Consultees include all members of 
the public and residents of Sefton with an interest in 

housing and the provision of housing services. Other 
key stakeholders will be those external organisations 
who will be working in partnership with the Council to 

deliver, own and manage new or existing housing as 
well as providing housing services. Specific 

consultees include: Cabinet Member -Communities 
and Housing, Adult Social Care, Public Health Assets 
and Property, Planning Policy, Regeneration and all 

Registered Providers of Affordable Housing (Housing 
Associations) operating in Sefton. 

Method(s) of Consultation  Emails, direct meetings and briefings 

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-

maker 

Housing Strategy 2022 -2027 

Contact Officer(s)  details 

 

Alistair Malpas alistair.malpas@sefton.gov.uk 

 

Page 88

Agenda Item 5



APPENDIX 3 

 Page 89

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
Report to: Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

-(Regeneration and 
Skills) 
 

Date of Meeting: 28 June 2022 

Subject: Cabinet Member Reports – February 2022 – June 2022 
 

Report of: Chief Legal and 

Democratic Officer 
 

Wards Affected: All 

Cabinet Portfolio: Communities and Housing; 
Health and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element) 

Locality Services; 
Planning and Building Control; and 

Regeneration and Skills 
Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

 No 

Exempt / 

Confidential 
Report: 

No  

 
Summary: 

To submit the Cabinet Member - Communities and Housing; Locality Services; 
Health and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element); Planning and Building Control; and 

Regeneration and Skills reports relating to the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for the period February 2022 to June 2022. 
 

Recommendation: 

 

That the Cabinet Member - Communities and Housing; Locality Services; Health and 
Wellbeing (Green Sefton element); Planning and Building Control; and Regeneration 
and Skills reports relating to the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 

noted. 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 

 
In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member Reports to be 
submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  

 

No alternative options have been considered because the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member Reports to be 

submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
 

 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 

Page 91

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

Any financial implications associated with the Cabinet Member report that are 

referred to in this update are contained within the respective reports. 
 
(A) Revenue Costs – see above 
 

 
(B) Capital Costs – see above 
 

Implications of the Proposals: 

 
Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
 

 

Legal Implications: 

 
 

Equality Implications: 

There are no equality implications.  
 

Climate Emergency Implications: 
 

The recommendations within this report will  

Have a positive impact  No 

Have a neutral impact Yes 

Have a negative impact No 

The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 

report authors 

Yes 

 

There are no direct climate emergency implications arising from this report. Any 
climate emergency implications arising from matters referred to in the Cabinet 
Member reports will be contained in reports when they are presented to Members at 

the appropriate time. 
 

 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:  

 

Protect the most vulnerable: None directly applicable to this report. The Cabinet 

Member update provides information on activity within Councillor Atkinson’s, 
Fairclough’s, Hardy’s, Moncur’s (relating to Green Sefton) and Veidman’s portfolios 
during a previous two/three-month period. Any reports relevant to their portfolio 

considered by the Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Committees during this period 
would contain information as to how such reports contributed to the Council’s Core 

Purpose.  
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: As above 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: As above 
 

Page 92

Agenda Item 6



 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: As above 
 

Drivers of change and reform: As above 

 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: As above 
 

Greater income for social investment: As above 
 

Cleaner Greener: As above 
 

 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 

 
(A) Internal Consultations 

 

The Cabinet Member Update Report is not subject to FD/LD consultation.  Any 
specific financial and legal implications associated with any subsequent reports 

arising from the attached Cabinet Member update report will be included in those 
reports as appropriate 
 
(B) External Consultations  

 

Not applicable  
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 

 
Immediately following the Committee meeting. 

 
Contact Officer: Paul Fraser 

Telephone Number: 0151 934 2068 

Email Address: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 

 
The following appendices are attached to this report:  
 

Cabinet Member – Communities and Housing  
Cabinet Member – Health and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element) – to follow 

Cabinet Member - Locality Services – to follow 
Cabinet Member – Planning and Building Control – to follow 
Cabinet Member - Regeneration and Skills – to follow 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Background Papers: 

Page 93

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

There are no background papers available for inspection. 

 
1. Introduction/Background 

 
1.1 In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview 

and Scrutiny Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member 

Reports to be submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 

1.2 Attached to this report, for information, is the most recent Cabinet Member 
report for the Communities and Housing portfolio.  The Cabinet Member 
reports for the Locality Services; Planning and Building Control; 

Regeneration and Skills  and Health and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element) 
portfolios will be submitted to Members in due course. 

 
 
 

Page 94

Agenda Item 6



CABINET MEMBER UPDATE REPORT 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills – 08th March 2022)  

 

COUNCILLOR PORTFOLIO DATE 

Patricia Hardy Communities and Housing June 2022 

 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND PARTNERSHIPS 

 

A successful Day of Action took place on Sandbrook Way in Ainsdale on the18th May.  One 
Vision Housing, Environmental Health colleagues and the Neighbourhoods team, spoke with 
residents about issues around dog fouling, responsible ownership, and fly-tipping.  This was 

then followed up with a letter delivered to all residents around bin collection.  OVH are working 
with cleansing to address some issues with a possibility of Eurobins being used in the future. 

 
An extension to the living wall on Washington Parade has been carried out. An official unveiling 
took place on Thursday 16th June which tied in with Clean Air Day.   

 
Construction at Runnells Lane Park is complete, and a photo/press release is being organised 

with the Manor ward councillors to take place prior to a more formal launch. 
 
Weeds and grass maintenance issues have started to become more prevalent. Many areas are 

not being fully serviced by our contractors due to parked vehicles and domestic waste bins 
being stored on the verges. We have asked the Comms team to send out messages regarding 

parked vehicles causing issues for the contractors on the verges. 
 
Ward Councillors have expressed an interest in setting up a Road Safety team made up of local 

volunteers working in partnership with the Police. However, so far, no residents have come 
forward to volunteer to be part of a Safer Road Watch group. 

 
Area Coordinators recently met with a colleague from Economic Growth and Housing regarding 
a local heritage project which is underway in several local authorities including Sefton. This 

project enables residents and groups to nominate buildings and structures for “Local Listing”. 
Local listing recognises local buildings and structures that do not meet the criteria for statutory 

designation, but which represent the character and identity of the area.  
 
The Community Payback team continue to operate from the Blucher Street workshop four days 

per week to clear litter from the beach and surrounding areas. The national risk assessment is 
due to be approved imminently after which the team will be able to operate further afield. 
 
Welfare Reform 

 

 Food bank  

 

1st April 2022 – 1st June 2022 South Sefton   Southport   

Total Vouchers received            1071 359 

Adults Fed            1346  480 

Children Fed            783          276 

Total Fed            2129 756 

Crisis Type   Low income – 737 vouchers 

presented 1480 people fed 

Low income – 188 vouchers 

presented 338 people fed   

Family Type   Single 626 vouchers presented 

58.45%   

Single 168 vouchers presented 

46.8% 

Age group   25-64: 1195 25 – 64: 421 
Page 95

Agenda Item 6



Planning for the Holiday activity and food Fund Summer Activities is well under way and so far, 
there have been applications from providers to offer at least 1400 places for Children across the 

borough.  
The recruitment process has finished, and the Coordinator and Administration Assistant posts 
have been filled. 
 
Hate Crime 

  
The Hate Crime JAG (formerly MARAC) meetings continue to take place via MS Teams. The 
group are looking to return to face-to-face meetings very soon. 

 
Walkabouts and leaflet drops have taken place in the Bedford Road area of Bootle and the 

Central Square area of Maghull, involving staff from the office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and local policing teams. These were delivered in response to issues raised at 
the Hate Crime JAG. 

 
Equalities 

  
Online training on Equality Impact Assessments (EIA’s) continues and dates have been set 
through to 2023. More departments are coming forward for advice on completing EIA’s as part 

of their projects. 
 
The CEG is looking to launch a disability staff group and LGBT staff group. The number of staff 

getting in touch so far in response to the promotion of these groups has been low. 
 

NAVAJO award reassessment has been set for 28th July.  
 
Anti-Social Behaviour 

 
20 Community Protection Notice warnings and 5 Full Community Protection Notices have been 

issued during the past 12 months. The team are continuing to utilise this measure as it is 
proving successful in deterring perpetrators of Anti-Social Behaviour.  
 

The ASB team and Merseyside Police will be delivering “Action Days” in hotspot areas that are 
frequented by Street Drinkers across the borough. The individuals being targeted on these days 

are known for causing Anti-Social Behaviour and Low-Level Crime. 
 
The ASB team are trailing working one day a week from a Police station which will develop a 

closer working relationship with Merseyside Police Colleagues.  
 

Partnership work continues to address ASB issues in Duke Street Park and surrounding areas.  
A meeting has taken place with schools, police, green Sefton and neighbourhoods to work on a 
plan for the summer period.  Activities are taking place throughout the summer months on 

Friday and Saturday evenings.  Plans are being developed to improve park entrance gates and 
ensure hedges are fully reinstated.  A meeting is planned with Highways to discuss an island 

that young people hang round on sitting on planters. 
 
 

 
Library & Information Services 

 

Communications  

Events promoted via the Council website, The Atkinson website, The Atkinson social 

media, through the press and Liverpool City Region  

Page 96

Agenda Item 6



Different Voices – Shared Lives project launches 

 

A new project developing and showcasing writing talent from Sefton’s racial minority 
communities has just been launched. Funded by LCR, the project will provide platforms, 
pathways and creative opportunities for underrepresented communities to express themselves, 

raise awareness of their histories and explore contemporary experiences of living and working 
in Sefton. A series of creative writing workshops began being delivered by Writing on the Wall 

every Tuesday for 6 weeks from 5th April at Southport Library. 
 
Major infrastructure work begins on the People’s Network 

 

 A major upgrade of the People’s Network infrastructure has begun and works should continue 

throughout the spring. This work is the most comprehensive change to the People’s Network 
infrastructure in 20 years.The works include: 

 Discontinuing the physical servers that manage the People’s Network and moving to a 

cloud- based model. 
 Replacing all 106 pc’s from existing council stock of new pc’s abandoned when teams 

moved to a home working model with laptops 

 Moving from Windows 7 to Windows 10 operating platform 

 Replacing Deepfreeze with an alternative model of controlling data protection 

 Replacing BLOXX with new filtering software  

 Works on the new infrastructure should be completed by the summer of 2022. Currently 

Agilisys are moving the in the process of moving the servers and bringing together all the 
spare new pc’s that will form the new People’s Network. 

 
 

Improvement works to Meadows Library 
 

Meadows Library has been particularly hard hit by Covid restrictions and recovery of user 

numbers is slower than expected. To address it is planned to refresh the look of the library to 
make it more appealing. Works include: 

 Replacing worn furniture 
 Reviewing the layout of the shelving to make the library more accessible  

 Installing window manifestations in the Children’s area 

 Replacing shelving end panels with fresh images 

 Restarting class visits 

 Creating a space for small groups to meet in the library 
 

Libraries are in discussions with the Hornby Society to inject a fresh identity into Meadows 
Library.  The Hornby Society currently have a permanent exhibition space in Meadows, 

accessible through the library and the library service is exploring extending the Hornby theme 
into their spaces. The founder of Hornby, Frank Hornby lived in Maghull, so the connection to 
the local area’s heritage is clear. Discussions are also currently taking place with the Hornby 

Society, with the possibility of working together on a Heritage Fund bid in the near future to 
install a working Hornby train above the shelving near to the Children’s Library. This would be a 

unique attraction and would blend the spaces of the library and Hornby Society exhibitions 
together more seamlessly. 
 
Human Libraries Project success at LCR Culture Awards 

 

The Human Libraries Project was, once again shortlisted in a category at this year’s LCR 
Cultural Awards. The project has been a runner up in previous awards, but this year Human 
Libraries won its category for the Covid Response Award. During lockdown, Human Libraries 

activities immediately switched online but were able to offer blended activities despite Page 97

Agenda Item 6



restrictions. For example, an online cookery tutorial was produced where participants could pick 
up ingredients from Bootle Library, which was closed but operating click and collect at the time. 

The class was then run online, and staff supported residents in attending virtually, where they 
still all cooked together (just not in the same space) and got the benefit of social interaction with 
each other. 
 

This success at the LCR Culture Awards recognises the dedication of library staff and artists 

who drove the project through the most difficult of circumstances. The innovative way the 
project changed its delivery was seen as a model of best practice in unprecedented times. 
 
 
THE ATKINSON 

 
Theatre Programme 

The Atkinson’s new Performing Arts Programmer Marie Kenny has secured some eye-catching 

bookings -  
 
Paul Young has been a major star for four decades. He broke into the big time 40 years ago 

when ‘No Parlez’ went to number one and spawned iconic hits like ‘Wherever I Lay My Hat 
(That’s My Home)’.  He will visit The Atkinson on 22 March 2023 as part of a major tour which 

coincides with the 40th anniversary of his career and the publication of his extraordinary memoir, 
entitled ‘Behind The Lens’. 
 
Paul Smith is compere of Liverpool’s Hot Water Comedy Club.  Now a celebrated figure on the 

national comedy circuit he embarks on a brand-new national tour in May 2023 entitled ‘Joker’! 

The scouse funny man will mix his trade-mark audience interaction with more hilarious true 
stories from his everyday life.  This is guaranteed to be one of the outstanding comedy tours of 
the year. 

 
Roald Dahl & the Imagination Seekers.  This month younger audiences will be thrilled with 

this immersive and interactive performance, involving games and imaginative play, whilst 
exploring Roald Dahl̓ s extraordinary stories along the way.  All around the world Roald Dahl’s 
words are disappearing not only from books but children’s minds too. Now only a Secret 

Organization known as The Ancient Guild of Taletenders can save the stories, but they need 
your help…! 

 
Praise received 

The theatre team received some lovely feedback from Henshaws’ visually impaired group 

following a few visits to shows in recent weeks: 
‘We had the pleasure of bringing some of our young people to the Atkinson Theatre on three 

occasions, just recently we saw Shrek and on Friday evening we were there for the 24K Bruno 
concert. Each event has been greatly received by the kids and their families, Friday nights show 
was just brilliant, we were singing and dancing from the start, music is so uplifting for our kids …  

It’s not that often that you meet people who go that extra mile to ensure their customers get 
great service, please pass on our gratitude to all your team.’ 
 
Exhibitions Programme 

Following conclusion of the Southport Open art exhibition the galleries changeover to welcome 

the following new displays :- 
 

The Poetry of Trees 

4 June 2022 – 11 March 2023 
Trees have inspired artists and writers for millennia. A range of artistic perspectives help us 
reconnect with the natural world, through painting, sculpture, and digital artworks. Including 

Page 98

Agenda Item 6



several pieces from the Atkinson’s own fine art collection this exhibition explores the 
relationship between humans and the nature, revealing how trees may reflect our emotional 

sensibilities and influence perceptions of how we live our lives. 
Zarah Hussain: Light Upon Light - 11 June – 24 September 2022 

The Atkinson continues to celebrate the work of contemporary female artists.  In this exhibition 

Zarah Hussain combines contemporary digital art with traditional hand-drawn Islamic geometry 
to create immersive drawings, sculptures, and light installations. This touring display from 

gallery Oldham includes a stunning geometric light installation which offers viewers a 
kaleidoscopic opportunity for reflective and meditative response. 
 

Sefton’s heritage is promoted through these three forthcoming exhibitions -  
 
Built on Sand: 200 Years of Southport’s Changing Street Scene -18 June- 17 September 

2022 
Southport Townscape Heritage Project show how Southport has developed from sandhills to 

seaside town. 
 
Barnum in the Blood: Six Generations, One Passion -25 June – 17 December 2022 

Discover the story of the 6th generation showman behind Southport’s historic Pleasureland. 
From a young age Norman Wallis worked on his father’s rides and his grandfather was known 

as The Seaforth Barnum. 
 
Southport’s Victorian Visitors - 2 July – 29 October 2022 

What have P.T.Barnum, Arthur Conan Doyle and Sigmund Freud got in common? It might 
surprise you to discover that the answer is Southport!  

 
Southport Library 

The library has recently hosted class visits from Holy Trinity Primary, and co-ordinated a large 

group visit of 110 students from Linaker Primary.   Mental health Awareness week was 
promoted with a book display. 
 
Summer activities  

Throughout the summer the Atkinson will provide free opportunities for families to take part in 

creative activities. 
 

Family Fun Days   The fun commences on Saturday 2 July, celebrating the summer exhibitions 

programme with a day of free family fun. Expect craft activities, drama workshops, tours, talks 
and tasty treats! 

 
Interactive Storytelling  

Interactive storytelling and imaginative play sessions for children aged 3-7 will be held every 
Wednesday from 27 July to 24 August. Ignite your child’s imagination, develop their confidence, 
and encourage their communication skills with these family sessions. 

 
Make it! Craft Workshops 

Children of all ages will be getting creative during the summer holidays in The Atkinson’s free 
craft workshops. Inspiration will be taken from our museum, galleries, and theatre spaces and 
all equipment is provided. Suitable for all ages.  

Held as drop-in events every Thursday from 28 July to 25 August. 
 
Young Curators Summer Sessions 

These sessions are aimed at young people aged 14-18 who are interested in the arts and may 
wish to a pursue a career in the museums’ sector.  Participants will work with industry 

professionals to develop their creative skills and understanding of museum collections. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 6



 
Communications  
Events promoted via the Council website, The Atkinson website, The Atkinson social media, through the 
press and Liverpool City Region  

Page 100

Agenda Item 6



HOUSING 
 
Housing Strategy (2022 – 2027) Public Consultation - Open 

A consultation version of Sefton’s refreshed Housing Strategy (2022-27) has been 

developed in partnership with a range of external and internal stakeholders. The 
development of a robust housing strategy has followed good practice guidance, which 

indicates the importance of developing a shared strategy, in collaboration with key partners, 

and also through consultation with a wider group of stakeholders and the community. 
Therefore, to ensure that the draft Housing Strategy is robust, fit for purpose and inclusive, 

the next strategy development stage, involves consultation with a wider group of 

stakeholders and the community of Sefton. 
 

The public consultation process has been developed in accordance with Sefton’s Public 

Engagement and Consultation Panel, to ensure it is appropriate and reaches those 
individuals or populations who potentially have protected characteristics or are harder to 
reach. The public consultation is currently open (closing on 29th July 2022) and can be 

accessed via the following webpage: www.sefton.gov.uk/housingstrategyconsultation. 

Additionally, there are numerous alternative methods for accessing the consultation 

document and providing comments including making large print and easy read versions 
available alongside housing officer support to ensure inclusivity.  

 

The final version of the Housing Strategy will be presented to Cabinet for consideration in 
September 2022.   

     
Extra Care Housing 

As previously reported several Extra Care Schemes are being worked up to enable us to meet our 

target of 1306 units across the borough by 2036. I am pleased to report that significant progress 
has been made on this and that market engagement over the past 6 months is positive. The RAG 

rated table below provides detail of schemes that are at various stages of their predevelopment 

journey. 

 
SCHEME DEVELOPER/ 

RP 

STATUS START ON 

SITE 

COMPLETION NOTES 

Sandbrook Road, Ainsdale 

(90-unit Extra Care, 40 
Affordable Rent and an 8-
unit Short-term 
assessment scheme) 

Riverside Housing 

Association 

Planning app in 

anticipated 
committee/deleg
ated report Q3 
22/23 

 

Q4 22/23 Q3 24/25 Likely timeframe w ill now  see f inal 

survey's completed June 22, demolition 
of buildings August, planning approval 
September and land sale October 
subject to cabinet approval, w ith a start 

on site thereafter. 
 
 
 

Damfield Lane, Maghull, 

L31 3FA (107-unit Extra 
care mixed tenure 51 
Affordable Rent and 56 
Shared Ow nership) 

 

Torus Housing 

and Priory Asset 
Management 

Section 73 

submitted June 
22 

Q3 22/23 Q4 

24/25 

Land acquisition completed start on site 

anticipated Sep 22. 
 

Tow n Lane Kew , 
Southport, PR8 4HQ (116 
Extra Care, 18 apartments 
and 5 Mew  style 

properties) 
 
 

Torus Housing 
and Priory Asset 
Management 

Section 73 
submitted May 
22 

Q3 22/23 Q4 24/25 Land acquisition completed start on site 
anticipated Aug 22. 
 

Haw thorne Road, Bootle, 
L20 6BY (91-unit Extra 

Care and 67 AR) 
 

Housing 21 and 
Onw ard Homes 

 

Planning 
approved 

Q4 22/23 Q1 25/26 Final negotiations ongoing betw een 
Housing21, Onw ard, Combined 

Authority and Homes England w ith our 
support to f inalise and agree grant rates.  
If  agreed Start on site anticipated Q4 22   

Park House, Haigh House, 
Waterloo, L22 3XL (106-

unit Extra Care) 
 

Anw yl Developers New  planning 
application 

expected  

TBC TBC Anw yl currently in discussions with 
various Housing providers in anticipation 

of new  application being submitted. 
 

Page 101

Agenda Item 6

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/housingstrategyconsultation


 
 

If the above 6 sites were all to progress this would deliver a total of 590 of the required 1306 

extra care units (45%). 
  

In addition to the above sites several relatively early-stage proposals and discussions with 
housing providers, landowners and or developers are ongoing. This gives us real confidence 
that the market is responding to us, and future sites will be brought forward to meet future 

extra care housing need in the borough. 
 

Private Sector Housing 
 

Our 3 private landlord licensing schemes went live on the 1st of March 2018- focusing on the 

licensing of all private landlords in Bootle but developing stronger ‘Additional HMO’ licensing 
schemes to cover all types of HMO properties for Southport and Waterloo/Seaforth.  

 

On the 2nd December Cabinet approved the Business Case for the re-designation of the 3 
schemes from March 2023 and a full public consultation on the proposals is currently 
underway. 

 
Since the April update, a further 71 properties have been identified as potentially requiring a 
licence, but no application has been received. Officers have sent final warning letters to these 

owners and will follow up with enforcement action if required. 4 x Final Civil Penalty fine 
notices have been served on 4 landlords for failure to licence 4 properties in the Selective 

Licensing area. 10 x Intention to Serve Civil Penalty Notices were also served on 10 
Landlords for failure to licence properties within the Selective licensing area. A further 135 
properties have been licensed. Since lockdown began 2212 new licenses have been issued. 

Compliance inspections have re-commenced, and 25 inspections have been carried out since 
the previous update. 

 
Since the April update the team have responded to 56 requests for service relating to poor 
housing standards issues. Inspections have been carried out on the majority of these 

properties and informal action taken to remove hazards. Formal action was required in 2 of 
these cases where Emergency Prohibition Orders were served to prohibit the use of these 2 

properties as residential accommodation due to the imminent risk to the health & safety of the 
occupiers due to severe poor housing conditions. Statutory enforcement action has also 
commenced on 2 long term vacant properties to enforce their sale and bring them back into 

use for residential accommodation. Management of the Council’s Gypsy & Traveller site 
continues, and officers have attended 6 Unauthorised Gypsy & Traveller encampments. 

 
Rough Sleepers & Homeless services 

 

Housing First  
 

The future funding settlement for the Housing First programme has been announced by 
the Government in May 2022. The LCR Combined Authority has secured funding to 
continue Housing First until March 2024 this will help to provide much needed stability 

for the service users, who require long-term assistance and the intensive support that 
this programme offers. Additionally, the Housing First partnership won a “highly 

commended” award for Best Initiative for Tackling Homelessness at the recent Northern 
Housing Awards. 

 

Coffee House Bridge, 
Bootle, L20 4AH (80-unit 
Extra Care and 107 AR) 

SAFE 
Regeneration 
 

 

Planning appeal 
lodged  

TBC TBC Planning appeal hearing anticipated July 
2022.  

Page 102

Agenda Item 6



Rough Sleeper Initiative 
 

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) announced the next 
phase of the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI 2022-25) on 17th November. As part of this process, 
they asked all local authorities to think about their longer-term plans to end rough sleeping 

locally, and how RSI funding can be used to support these ambitions. 
 

At the end of February, a bid for c£1.4m was made and at the end of May the council was 
informed that £1.16m of funding had been awarded. Although disappointing that the full amount 
wasn’t awarded this was anticipated based on advice received from DLUHC during the bidding 

process that local authorities were very unlikely to get the full amount of their bids.  
 

The breakdown of funding secured through the RSI bid is as follows: 
 

 Year 1  Year 2  Year 3  Total  

Sefton 
Metropolitan 

Borough 
Council 
TOTALS 

£376,811  £406,315  £374,407  £1,157,533  

Crash Bed 
Workers  

£64,000  £65,280  £66,584  £195,864  

Flexible 
Personalised 

Budget  

£15,000  £10,000  £7,500  £32,500  

Hospital In-

Reach Worker  

£24,000  £32,640  £33,292  £89,932  

Housing 

Options Team 
Officer  

£37,249  £37,992  £0  £75,241  

Q1 assurance  £29,951  £0  £0  £29,951  

Resettlement 

Workers  

£69,000  £70,280  £71,584  £210,864  

Sefton 

Homeless 
Psychologist 
Service  

£137,611  £190,123  £195,447  £523,181  

 

Because DLUHC only provided funding for 0.4FTE (full time equivalent) of the Consultant 
Psychologist post the lower sum awarded shouldn’t impact on the delivery of this service 

significantly in Sefton as all of the other posts within this service were fully funded and we 
remain confident that we can still achieve positive outcomes from the service. From 2025 when 
RSI funding ends we have agreed with Merseycare that ‘in principle’ they will mainstream the 

service. The funding will also provide funding for a post for the Housing Options Team for the 
next 2 years. 

 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Riverside Dispersed Accommodation Pilot
	5 Work Programme 2022/23, Scrutiny Review Topics and Key Decision Forward Plan
	Enc. 1 for Work Programme 2022/23, Scrutiny Review Topics and Key Decision Forward Plan
	Enc. 2 for Work Programme 2022/23, Scrutiny Review Topics and Key Decision Forward Plan
	Enc. 3 for Work Programme 2022/23, Scrutiny Review Topics and Key Decision Forward Plan

	6 Cabinet Member Reports - February 2022 - June 2022
	Communities and Housing


